UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

The Development of an Unconventional Qa1b Restricted T cell Population

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9t27p9hf

Author

Manoharan Valerio, Michael Anand

Publication Date 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

The Development of an Unconventional Qa1^b Restricted T cell Population

Ву

Michael Anand Manoharan Valerio

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In

Molecular and Cell Biology

In the

Graduate Division

Of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in charge:

Professor Ellen Robey, Chair Professor Gregory Barton Professor David Raulet Professor Sarah Stanley

Fall 2022

Abstract

The Development of an Unconventional Qa1^b Restricted T cell Population

by

Michael Manoharan Valerio

Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular and Cell Biology

University of California, Berkeley

Professor Ellen Robey, Chair

CD8 T cells restricted to the nonclassical MHC 1 (MHC 1b) molecule MHC-E show great promise in vaccine settings, but the development and specificity of MHC-E restricted T cells remains poorly understood. Here we focus on a CD8 T cell population reactive to a self-peptide (FL9) bound to mouse MHC-E (Qa1^b) that is presented in response to loss of the classical (MHC 1a) processing enzyme ERAAP, termed QFL T cells. We find that mature QFL thymocytes are predominantly CD8 $\alpha\beta$ +CD4-, show signs of agonist selection, and give rise to both CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL), as well as circulating memory phenotype CD8 $\alpha\beta$ T cells. QFL T cells require the MHC 1 subunit β -2 microgloblin (β 2m), but do not require Qa1^b or epithelial MHC 1 for positive selection. However, QFL thymocytes do require Qa1^b for agonist selection and full functionality. Our data highlight the relaxed requirements for positive selection of an MHC-E restricted T cell population, and suggest a CD8 $\alpha\beta$ +CD4- pathway for development of CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ IELs.

Table of Contents

Dedication	<i>iii</i>
Acknowledgements	iv
Chapter 1	1
The thymic development and function of conventional and unconventional $lphaeta$ T cells	1
1.1 Conventional $lphaeta$ T cell function and development	3
1.2 Unconventional αβT cell function and development iNKT MAIT CELLS. H2-M3 restricted T cells MHC-E restricted T cells	4 5 6 7 7
1.3 $lphaeta$ TCR Intraepithelial lymphocytes	9
1.4 Virtual memory CD8 T cells	10
1.5 Concluding remarks Figure 1: Positive Selection of $\alpha\beta$ T cells	10 11
1.6 Figures Table1: MHC-E Restricted Responses	11 12
Chapter 2	14
The promiscuous development of an unconventional Qa1 ^b -restricted T cell population	14
2.1 Introduction	16
2.2 Results	18 1920202121
2.3 Discussion	22
2.4 Figures Figure 2.1: Characterization of QFL T cells in non-transgenic and transgenic mice Figure 2.2: MHC requirements for QFL T cell development Figure 2.3: Requirement for epithelial cell or hematopoietic cell in QFL selection Figure 2.4: Agonist selected QFL T cells respond rapidly to antigen exposure and home to the IFL	25 26 28

Supplemental Figure 2.4. Requirement of Hematopoletic cens and Non-nematopole	tic cells in OFL T
development in non-transgenic mice	
2 5 Methods	
Mice	
Generation of the OFLTg mouse:	
Generation of K ^b D ^b KO mice	
Preparation of Cell Suspension	
Staining for Flow Cytometry	
CFSE labeling	
Tetramer Enrichment	
Bone Marrow Chimeras	
Neonatal Chimeras	
Bone Marrow Dendritic Cell Culture In Vitro Stimulation	
In Vitro Stimulation with Splenocytes	
Thymic Tissue Slice Cultures	
dendum and Future Directions	
 dendum and Future Directions	r elopment n QFL T cell
 dendum and Future Directions	r elopment n QFL T cell
dendum and Future Directions	r elopment n QFL T cell
dendum and Future Directions	r elopment n QFL T cell
 dendum and Future Directions	r elopment n QFL T cell
 dendum and Future Directions	elopment
 dendum and Future Directions	elopment n QFL T cell estine Il in QFL selectio
 dendum and Future Directions	elopment n QFL T cell estine ll in QFL selectio
 dendum and Future Directions	elopment n QFL T cell estine Il in QFL selectio
 dendum and Future Directions	elopment n QFL T cell estine Il in QFL selectio
 dendum and Future Directions	elopment n QFL T cell estine Il in QFL selectio
 dendum and Future Directions	relopment n QFL T cell restine Il in QFL selectio
 dendum and Future Directions	elopment n QFL T cell restine Il in QFL selectio

Dedication

Se lo dedico a todos los Boricuas que han luchado por un Puerto Rico libre y soberano. A todo Boricua que han dejado su isla por busca de mejores oportunidades. A todo los seres queridos perdidos por injusticias. A todo Producto de la UPR que han puesto a Puerto Rico en alto con sus logros. A cada persona que sueña indagar en la ciencia pero no cree en su valor.

Puerto Rico resistirá a todos los corruptos y los venceremos con dignidad y pasión.

Acknowledgements

Sin mi familia este trabajo no seria posible

Evelyn Valerio Rivera, Mónica I Pons Valerio, Jaime J. Pons Valerio, Melanie León Torres, Octavio Colon Rodríguez, José Pons Madera, Sara Elise Pons León, Gabriel José Pons León

Richard J Noel my first science mentor who gave me the opportunity to work in his lab as a teenager. If it wasn't for your influence my life would have taken a different path.

Edu B. Suarez who believed in me and did everything she could to help me and my PRISE cohort rise to our top potential.

To all my friends that have been the best support system in my darkest times.

Chapter 1

The thymic development and function of conventional and unconventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells

1.1 Conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell function and development

The mammalian immune system is generally separated into the innate and adaptive compartments. The innate compartment is armed with germline encoded "sensor" proteins that recognize conserved features of pathogens and signs of cellular damage. The failure of the innate compartment to clear the pathogen triggers the adaptive compartment. This secondary component tailors its response to the specific pathogen/cellular damage afflicting the organism. A key component of the adaptive branch of the immune system is the T cell. The primary function of T cells is to recognize an infected/damaged cell and mount an appropriate response to clear out the pathogen or infected/damaged cell.

The T cell is a type of leukocyte that is characterized by a unique surface protein called the T cell receptor (TCR). Through this TCR, T cells can survey for signs of a pathogen or damaged cell. In order to fulfill their function, T cells require an antigen presenting cell (APC) that displays peptides derived from pathogens or damaged cells. These immunogenic peptides are loaded on a protein called the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). These proteins are located in one of the most polymorphic loci in the human genome (Fernandez Vina et al., 2012). Interestingly, these polymorphisms are generally where peptide binding sites are encoded. The diversity of MHC alleles provide differential responses to the same pathogen by binding different peptide sequences derived of a single pathogen derived protein. Since T cell responses are dependent on the reactivity of a TCR to a particular MHC+ peptide complex, this diversity of MHC+ peptide complexes can elicit a myriad of T cells that have varying rates of efficiency in clearance of a pathogen.

T cells are generally categorized based on the expression of their co-receptor CD4 or CD8. The former are known as CD4⁺ T helper and the latter CD8⁺ cytotoxic cells. These co-receptors assist in binding to specific classes of MHC molecules. The CD8 co-receptor binds MHC-I, which is expressed on the surface of all nucleated cells and loads peptides derived from cytosolic proteins. The CD4 co-receptor bind MHC-II, which is expressed on specialized "professional" APCs and loads peptides derived from cytosolic self-proteins and are generally non-immunogenic. In an unhealthy or infected cell, the repertoire of cytosolic proteins is enriched for pathogen encoded proteins or damage associated proteins. This leads to immunogenic peptides loaded onto MHC-I that provoke a CD8+ T cell response and eventual death of the unhealthy cell. This ability of T cells to discriminate between self and non-self-peptides is an essential component of their thymic development, a process called central tolerance.

T cell development occurs in the thymus, where they are referred to as thymocytes. The different stages of thymocyte development are categorized by the expression of CD4 and CD8 coreceptors. The goal of a developing thymocyte is to complete rearrangement of a functional TCR. The first stages of thymocyte development are named by their lack of CD4 and CD8 expression, these are called double negative (DN) thymocytes. During these stages of development notch dependent signals are critical for the maturation and survival of DN thymocytes(Li and von Boehmer, 2011). The DN phases of thymocyte development can be further segregated into 4 different stages based on the expression of CD44 and CD25: DN1 (CD44+CD25-), DN2 (CD44+CD25+), DN3(CD44-CD25+) and DN4 (CD44-CD25-). During the DN3-DN4 stages, thymocytes begin to arrange their TCR through a process called V(D)J recombination. This stochastic process leads to highly diverse set of potential TCR arrangements, with an estimated 10¹⁵ possibilities (Davis and Bjorkman, 1988). In reality many of this TCR arrangements are nonfunctional or potentially dangerous to the host and are eliminated. The first filtering of TCR arrangements occurs during β selection. A newly arranged β chain of the TCR is complexed with a germline encoded preT α . The ability of this complex to receive stimulation leads to survival and continue maturation of thymocytes (Murga and Barber, 2002). Completion of this developmental benchmark initiates the upregulation of CD4 and CD8 leading the thymocytes to the CD4+CD8+ double positive stage (DP) of development. The α chain of the TCR is rearranged during this stage and a complete $\alpha\beta$ T cell receptor is presented on the surface. The newly arranged TCR is tested for "self" reactivity by interacting with MHC+ peptides (pMHC) derived from self. These pMHC are presented by specialized cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTEC) (Kondo et al., 2017) (Figure1A). The thymocytes with a TCR that is not overly self-reactive, but is able to be stimulated proceeds development and it is positively selected (Hogguist et al., 1994; Lucas et al., 1999; Merkenschlager et al., 1997). The self pMHC-I or pMHC-II that provides a positive selecting signal to thymocytes determine whether thymocytes will become a CD8+ or CD4+ single positive (SP) thymocytes. The SP thymocytes that have been positively selected are tested once more for their self-reactivity by medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTEC) (Cosway et al., 2020; Kurd and Robey, 2016). These specialized APC display peptides derived from self- proteins that are specific to certain tissues, termed tissue restricted antigens (TRA). This final check on self-reactivity focuses on filtering out TCR clones that would react to immune-privileged sites, like the eyes and brain(Anderson et al., 2002). The combination of these rigorous checkpoints lead to a "central" tolerance that avoids autoimmunity and ensures a functional TCR repertoire.

1.2 Unconventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell function and development

The family of TCR bearing cells has been slowly expanding over the past years. The termed "unconventional" $\alpha\beta$ T cells have been of particular interest. These unconventional T cells are poised to rapidly respond to target cells (Legoux et al., 2017), migrate to non-lymphatic tissues (Chandra and Kronenberg, 2015; Crosby and Kronenberg, 2018), possess a limited repertoire of TCRs (Boudinot et al., 2016; Salio et al., 2014) and recognize non-polymorphic non-classical MHC (MHCb) (Adams and Luoma, 2013; Souza et al., 2019; Sullivan et al., 2008). In contrast to classical MHC (MHCa), MHCb molecules have less than 4-5 alleles in a population (Arnaiz et al., 2022; Ohtsuka et al., 2008).The ligands recognized by these unconventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells are not restricted

peptides, but also include glycolipids, vitamin metabolites and others (Adams and Luoma, 2013; Legoux et al., 2017). The development of unconventional T cells has been extensively studied for two unconventional populations. The developmental pathway of these unconventional T cells diverges early on from the conventional T cells described above. Overall, unconventional T cells blur the line that separates innate and adaptive immunity.

iNKT

The MHC 1b molecule CD1d binds lipid molecules as well as hydrophobic peptides derived from microbes and host (Adams and Luoma, 2013; Brutkiewicz, 2006). The T cell population that recognizes CD1d is called a natural killer T cell (NKT), since it expressed natural killer cell markers and a TCR (Pasman and Kasper, 2017; Salio et al., 2014). The NKT cell population is divided into the Type 1 invariant NKT(iNKT) and the type 2 NKT. The iNKT population has a limited TCR repertoire with an almost invariant TCR α chain and a preferred set of TCR β chains (Bezbradica et al., 2005; Chandra and Kronenberg, 2015). The type 2 NKT cell have a diverse TCR repertoire and recognize not only lipids, but also hydrophobic peptides (Nishioka et al., 2018). I will be focusing on the type 1 iNKT population.

iNKT are generally tissue resident lymphocytes defined by their semi-invariant TCR of V α 14-J α 18 (in rodents) and V β 8, V β 7 or V β 2 (Kwon and Lee, 2017). Identifying iNKT cells in mice and humans has been facilitated by using tetramers of CD1d loaded with α -GalactosylCeramide, a potent ligand for this TCR. Interestingly, iNKT have been subcategorized based on their Th-like cytokine production: iNKT1, iNKT2, iNKT17, iNKT10 and iNKT_{FH} (Hogquist and Georgiev, 2020). iNKT are also resident of diverse tissues and have been found to have protective or pathological effects in response to infection (Crosby and Kronenberg, 2018). The fact that iNKT respond to the non-polymorphic CD1d, their ability to respond to a wide range of pathogens and their diverse effector programs, has poised iNKT to be an interesting cellular therapy option (Godfrey et al., 2018; Painter et al., 2021).

The thymic development of iNKT begins to deviate from conventional T cells at the DP stage (Benlagha et al., 2005). During this stage, iNKT receive their positively selecting signal by interacting with other DP thymocytes presenting CD1d loaded a self-lipid (Bendelac, 1995) (Figure1B). iNKT thymocytes receive a strong self-reactive signal during positive selection termed "agonist selection" (Joseph et al., 2019; Kumar et al., 2020; Stritesky et al., 2012). This alternate outcome of positive selection has been observed in other unconventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells and in T regulatory cells (Grandjean et al., 2017; Oh-Hora et al., 2013; Stritesky et al., 2012). Aside from CD1d+ self-lipid, iNKT thymocytes require homotypic interaction between selecting DP and selected DP thymocyte through signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (SLAM) receptors (Griewank et al., 2007). This interaction relays intracellular signals through the SLAM associated protein (SAP). The disruption of SAP mediated signaling alters iNKT development significantly (Chen et al., 2017). This SLAM/SAP axis has been proposed to dampen TCR signaling strength (Lu et al., 2019), which is an important component of iNKT development. In fact, it has been proposed that the strength of TCR signaling of a developing iNKT plays a role into the differentiation to: (in

descending order of signaling stength) iNKT2>iNKT17> iNKT1 (Tuttle et al., 2018). A direct consequence of iNKT TCR signaling is the expression of the transcription factor promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger (PLZF). This transcription factor is the master regulator for iNKT development and has been shown to impart innate-like characteristics to thymocytes (Kwon and Lee, 2017; Lee et al., 2020; Savage et al., 2008). In a similar pattern to TCR signaling, the levels of PLZF expression have been proposed to play a role in the differentiation to the different subsets. In contrast to conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells, iNKT in general leave the thymus fully differentiated and ready to respond to antigen. The recently described iNKT10 and iNKT_{FH} require some peripheral maturation events to gain their respective programming (Crosby and Kronenberg, 2018; Hogquist and Georgiev, 2020). Neither of these subsets have been identified in the thymus. This suggest an added level of plasticity in iNKT programming that should be considered in future studies.

MAIT CELLS

MR1 is an MHC 1b molecule that binds metabolites of vitamin B, a non-mammalian synthesized molecule (Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012). The mucosal activated invariant T cells (MAIT) are the major T cell population that responds to MR1. These unconventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells possess a semi-invariant TCR comprised of TRAV 1(V α 19 in mice and V α 7.2 in humans) and TRAJ 33(J α 33) paired with limited set of TCR β chains (le Bourhis et al., 2011). This highly conserved MHC 1b molecule has been shown to co-evolve with TRAV1 and TRAJ33, where mammalian species that express MR1 also express this specific pair of TCR α chain genes (Boudinot et al., 2016).

MAIT cells are defined by the expression of their invariant TCR α chain and binding to 5-OP-RU loaded MR1 tetramers. In general, MAIT cells show an effector programming similar to Th1 and Th17, termed MAIT1 and MAIT17. The MAIT cell population has been reported to play a role in the response to numerous bacterial, fungal, viral and parasitic infections (Godfrey et al., 2018, 2019; Pasman and Kasper, 2017). Interestingly, MAIT cells have also been implicated in several autoimmune diseases, allergic reactions and inflammatory disorders (Godfrey et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2020). MAIT cells can also be activated in a TCR independent manner. Curiously, this TCR independent activation requires at least two cytokine mediated signals (Godfrey et al., 2019). This alternate activation mechanism may explain MAIT responses to viruses and other pathogens that do not synthesize vitamin B. The versatility of MAIT cells may explain their high frequency in humans as they comprise around 1-10% of the blood circulating T cell (le Bourhis et al., 2011).

Similar to iNKT cells, the thymic development of MAIT cells deviate from conventional T cells at the DP stage (Lee et al., 2020). MAIT cells are agonist selected by other DP thymocytes expressing MR1 loaded with an unknown ligand (Seach et al., 2013)(Figure1C). It has been proposed that microbial metabolites are transported to the thymus and these are presented to developing MAIT cells. In support of this, MAIT cell development is impaired in germ free mice, but rescued when the germ free mice are exposed vitamin b producing microbes (Legoux et al., 2019; Pellicci et al., 2020). However, it is still unclear how DP thymocytes uptake the proposed microbial metabolite and present it to developing MAIT cells. MAIT cell development requires PLZF expression, but not SLAM/SAP homotypic interactions (Koay et al., 2016).

thymus, MAIT cells acquire their MAIT1 or MAIT17 programming. However, it is unknown what factors drive this differentiation. MAIT cells enter circulation with a defined effector programing and poised to respond to their antigen.

H2-M3 restricted T cells

H2-M3 is a non-classical MHC 1b that binds peptides with a formylated methionine at the nterminus (N-formylated) (Legoux et al., 2017), a common post-translational modification in prokaryotic cells. Therefore, it is of no surprise that H2-M3 presents peptides derived from bacterial and the mitochondrial proteins (Colmone and Wang, 2006; Lindahl et al., 1997). The CD8 T cells that are restricted to H2-M3 show an activated phenotype, have been identified in barrier sites (Linehan et al., 2018) and possess a diverse TCR repertoire (Legoux et al., 2017). H2-M3 has not been identified in humans, but there have been T cell responses directed at Nformylated peptides (Ristori et al., 2001).

The development of H2-M3 restricted T cells has been primarily described using a TCR transgenic of a listeria specific H2-M3 restricted clone (D7) (Berg et al., 1999). The D7 thymocytes requires thymic expression of H2-M3 loaded with an unknown N-formylated peptide. This selecting ligand can be presented by either epithelial cells or hematopoietic cells (Cho et al., 2011). However D7 thymocytes selected by hematopoietic cells express Eomes and show an innate like phenotype, but the epithelial selected D7 do not express Eomes and resemble conventional T cells. In contrast to iNKT and MAIT, D7 thymocytes do not express PLZF (Cho et al., 2011), but appear to gain their innate like phenotype from Eomes directed activity. Interestingly, D7 thymocytes require SLAM/SAP interactions for their activated phenotype, but not for their thymic development (Bediako et al., 2012). This implies that D7 thymocytes require a lymphocyte-lymphocyte homotypic interaction for their innate phenotype. It would be reasonable to suspect other DP thymocytes as the selecting APC, since these are the selecting APCs for MAIT and iNKT, this hypothesis has not been tested.

MHC-E restricted T cells

The non-classical peptide binding HLA-E (Human), Qa1 (Murine) and Mamu-E(Rhesus Macaque) are functional orthologs which are grouped under the term MHC-E (Ruibal et al., 2020). The dominant peptide bound to MHC-E molecules in steady state is derived from the leader sequence of classical MHC 1 molecules: VL9 in humans and Qa1 determinant modifier (QDM) in mice (Aldrich et al., 1994; Braud et al., 1997). This complex is recognized as an inhibitory signal by NK cells and activated cytotoxic lymphocytes (Braud et al., 1998; Vance et al., 1998). These inhibitory MHC-E complexes require a functional MHC 1 processing pathway. Additionally, MHC-E complexes are relatively unstable on the cell surface and are recycled back into the cell (Kambayashi et al., 2004). In order to provide inhibitory signals to cytotoxic immune cells, MHC-E must be frequently loaded and presented to the surface. Interestingly, many pathogens and cancers target the MHC 1 processing pathway as a form of immune evasion (Doorduijn et al.,

2016; Hislop and Taylor, 2015; Jhunjhunwala et al., 2021; Jia et al., 2015). Successful disruption of this pathway leads to a myriad of immunogenic peptides loaded on MHC-E that elicit diverse T cell responses (Table 1). These T cells responses are not limited to peptides derived from the pathogen, but also self-peptides that would normally be displaced by QDM or VL9. This secondary function of MHC-E has led to the hypothesis that MHC-E molecules monitor the MHC 1 processing pathway. In support of this, MHC-E restricted populations have been reported to respond to cells that lack transporter associated with antigen presentations (TAP) (Doorduijn et al., 2018) or endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase associated with antigen presentation (ERAAP) function (Nagarajan et al., 2012), which are key components of the MHC 1 processing pathway (Cifaldi et al., 2012; Hammer et al., 2007; Kotsias et al., 2019). Interestingly, both of these populations were found to be semi-invariant T cells (Table 1) (Doorduijn et al., 2018; Guan et al., 2017).

MHC-E appears to have alternate routes of peptide loading that are independent of the endoplasmic reticulum, the location of conventional MHC 1 peptide loading (Camilli et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2009). Aside from utilizing this conventional pathway, MHC-E appears to be able to load peptides from autophagosomes (Camilli et al., 2016). The constant recycling of MHC-E into the cell primes it to be introduced to phagosomal vesicles and be loaded with peptides. This alternate route of peptide loading can account for the responses to vesicle residing microbes like *M. Tuberculosis* (Grotzke et al., 2009; Harriff et al., 2017; Shang et al., 2016). In support of this, *M. Tuberculosis* infected dendritic cells are enriched for MHC-E compared to MHC 1a molecules (Grotzke et al., 2009) and there are over 60 HLA-E binding immunogenic peptides derived from *M. Tuberculosis* (McMichael and Picker, 2017). This alternate pathway has also been proposed to be a source for T cell derived peptides (Smith et al., 2009). This model states that endophagosomes containing apoptotic T cells are used to load recycled MHC-E molecules. It would be interesting to survey thymic phagocytic cells for this MHC-E pathway, as this would be an interesting source of self-peptides induced by cellular stress.

MHC-E restricted T cells have become the targets for vaccination strategies against HIV (McMichael and Picker, 2017; Sharpe et al., 2019). The proposed strategy was tested on rhesus macaques and their response to the simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), the simian equivalent of HIV. They observed a broad response that was mediated mostly by MHC-E restricted CD8 T cells and that for every 100 amino acids of SIVgag approximately 4 epitopes were loaded on MHC-E (Walters et al., 2018). These numerous epitopes generated a substantial response in all of the subjects, where >50% of animals showed SIV replication arrest. Recently, the immunodominant peptide of this response was used to isolate human T cells that are capable of recognizing it. Interestingly, these MHC-E restricted T cells were able to eliminate HIV infected CD4+ T cells *invitro* (Yang et al., 2021). This observation brings new possibilities to vaccination strategies for elusive pathogens. The human population contains approximately 2 functional HLA-E alleles, which differ at a single amino acid (Arnaiz et al., 2022). This restricted diversity overcomes a pitfall that has bedeviled other vaccination strategies, where different MHC alleles present different peptides that elicit T cell responses of varying efficacies.

The literature on the development of MHC-E restricted T cells is limited. The bulk of the studies are centered on a Qa1^b restricted T cell clone (6C5) that recognizes a peptide from beef insulin

(Sullivan et al., 2002; Tompkins et al., 1998) (Figure1D). A TCR transgenic model was developed utilizing the 6C5 TCR (V α 3.2 and V β 5.1/2) and used to investigate thymic development of this MHC-E restricted T cells. Thymocytes bearing the 6C5 TCR showed high self-reactivity, required Qa1^b for positive selection and could be selected by thymic hematopoietic cells. Interestingly, they showed that DP thymocytes were not responsible for presenting the positive selecting ligand (Sullivan et al., 2002). In contrast to 6C5, the thymic development of the semi-invariant Qa1^b restricted T cell clone that monitors TAP deficiency was found to be Qa1^b independent (Doorduijn et al., 2018), hinting at multiple thymic developmental pathways for MHC-E restricted T cells. This suggest that the development MHC-E restricted T cell differs from classical T cells as well as from the unconventional iNKT, MAIT and H2-M3 restricted cells. Further studies are required to dissect the development of MHC-E restricted T cells.

1.3 $\alpha\beta$ TCR Intraepithelial lymphocytes

The gut epithelium serves as a physical barrier between the internal body and the environment. Diverse microbes colonize the gut and form a symbiotic relationship with the host body. In this context, immune cells must be able to distinguish between potential pathogenic microbes and so called" commensal microbes". The epithelial lining of the gut and other mucosal surfaces are embedded with T cells called intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL) that help maintain gut homeostasis. The thymic origins of these IELs is still being investigated. The IELs are generally classified as "natural" or "induced". The former are conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells that migrated to the gut from peripheral tissues following antigen stimulation, while the latter are unconventional T cells that migrated to the gut directly from the thymus (Cheroutre et al., 2011; Gapin et al., 1999a). In general, natural IELs express the CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ homodimer, do not express activation markers and show an antigen experienced phenotype. The induced IEL are predominantly CD8 $\alpha\beta$ and show markers of recent activation. I will be focusing on the development of natural IELs

During positive selection some thymocytes that receive a strong agonist signal instead of being deleted undergo a lineage diversion to an IEL precursor (IELp) (Stritesky et al., 2012). Indeed, it has been shown that many negatively selected TCRs can give rise to IELs (McDonald et al., 2014, 2015). Following the strong TCR signal IELp downregulate CD4 and CD8 and continue to mature as DN thymocytes (Cheroutre et al., 2011; Mayans et al., 2014). Further characterization has led to the categorization of IELp as type A and type B (Ruscher et al., 2017). The Type A are highly self-reactive, reside in the thymic cortex, and are selected by MHC 1a. The type B are less self-reactive, prominent in the medulla and have a preference of MHC 1b. Interestingly, type B IELs are enriched for TCR α chain V α 3.2 and emigrate from the thymus with expression of Tbet, presumably with a Tbet induced effector program. These IELp may not be the only thymocytes that can become natural IELs. It has been shown that agonist selected CD8SP thymocytes can give rise to IELs when transferred to a recipient mouse (Kurd et al., 2021; Yamagata et al., 2004). Overall, IELp are heterogeneous group of thymocytes that utilize MHC 1a or MHC 1b, share the usage of self-reactive TCR clones and undergo lineage diversion to avoid negative selection

1.4 Virtual memory CD8 T cells

Memory T cells are an essential component of the adaptive immune system. Following the exposure to a pathogen a portion of the T cells that responded convert to a "memory" T cell. If re-exposure to the pathogen occurs, these memory T cells hasten the respond and poise the immune system to clear out the infection. The terms "virtual" memory (VM) or memory precursor T cells refers to T cells that display memory markers, but have not been primed by a foreign antigen (Jameson and Masopust, 2018; Kwesi-Maliepaard et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2015; Thiele et al., 2020). In fact, 15-20% of foreign antigen specific CD8 T cells are VM (Lee et al., 2013). These VM T cells respond faster to antigen than naïve and conventional memory T cells (Thiele et al., 2020; White et al., 2017). Interestingly, VM T cells were shown to be enriched for the TCR α chain V α 3.2 (Prasad et al., 2021). The thymic development of VM T cells is still unclear, but studies have shown that thymocytes that become VM T cells are strongly self-reactive (Drobek et al., 2018).

1.5 Concluding remarks

The innate immune system utilizes germline encoded receptors that recognize conserved motifs of distinct pathogens. These receptors are constantly surveying the environment and respond quickly to threats. On the other hand, the adaptive immune systems tailors its response to a particular pathogen and excels in its specificity. The trade-off is that the adaptive immune system is relatively slow and must design a response for each specific pathogen. The unconventional T cells provide the best of the adaptive and innate immune system. Their non-polymorphic MHC 1b proteins bind molecules that are present in multiple pathogens or self-molecules that are enriched in damaged cells. This approach to specificity positions unconventional T cells to respond to a broad set of pathogens and punishes pathogens for enacting their immune evasion strategies. Additionally, unconventional T cells can respond to their antigen rapidly, overcoming the compromise of the adaptive immune system. These properties have led to the hypothesis that unconventional T cells are an evolutionary bridge between the innate immune cells and the adaptive conventional T cells. Understanding the development of unconventional T cells can enhance our potential therapeutic uses for them and also inform on the evolution from innate to the adaptive immunity. The thymic development of MR1 and CD1d restricted T cells differs from conventional T cell selection at the critical DP stage and subsequently diverges into a separate pathway that employs different APCs and co-receptors. The development of MHC-E restricted T cells beckons further study. MHC-E is evolutionarily closer to classical MHC 1 than some other MHC 1b proteins, like CD1d and MR1. MHC-E restricted T cells may represent a population that is intermediate between conventional and iNKT/MAIT, and therefore may undergo a selection process that employs aspects of conventional and unconventional selection.

1.6 Figures



Figure 1: Positive Selection of $\alpha\beta$ T cells. A) Conventional: DP(CD4+CD8+) thymocytes undergo positive selection by interacting with cortical thymic epithelial cells. The DP thymocytes can arrange a diverse set of TCR that can interact with MHC loaded with a weakly stimulating self-peptide. B) iNKT: selected DP thymocytes undergo positive selection by interacting with a selecting DP thymocytes. The semi-invariant TCR interacts with CD1d loaded with a self-lipid that strongly stimulates the selected DP thymocyte. The SLAM/SLAM homotypic interactions help dampen the strength of TCR stimulation, in order to prevent negative selection. C) MAIT: selected DP thymocytes undergo positive selection by interacting with a selecting DP thymocytes. The semi-invariant TCR interacts with MR1 loaded with a microbial derived metabolite that strongly stimulates the selected DP thymocytes undergo positive selection by interacting with a microbial derived metabolite that strongly stimulates the selected DP thymocyte. D) MHC-E restricted: DP thymocytes undergo positive selection by interacting with an unknown hematopoietic cell. The DP thymocytes can arrange a TCR of unknown diversity that can interact with MHC-E loaded with a strongly stimulating self-peptide.

igen iency	Host	Peptide Source	Peptide	T cell tracking method	TCR	References
nuriu	Human/ Mouse	Salmonella HSP60	GMQFDRGYL	SalTc 1.69 clone established by limited dilution	Unknown	(Lo et al., 1999, 2000)
l. culosis	Human/ Mouse	Mtb44/mtb32 and others	P55, P68	Isolated from infected host	Diverse	(Bian et al., 2017; Grotzke et al., 2009; Harriff et al., 2017)
٩P	Mouse	Med15	RLIIHFRDI	TCR transgenic	Semi-invariant (TRAV13-D4)	(Doorduijn et al., 2018)
AP	Mouse	Fam 49a/b	FYAEATPML	Tetramer enrichment	Semi-invariant (TRAV9-D3)	(Guan et al., 2017; Nagarajan et al., 2012)
ullu	Mouse	Pork Insulin B chain	Unknown	TCR transgenic	Diverse	(Sullivan et al., 2002; Tompkins et al., 1998)
/SIV	Human/ Rhesus Macaque	SIV/HIV Gag	SIV- RMYNPTNIL HIV- RMYSPTSIL	Isolate from infected host/ PBMCs exposed to RL9	Diverse	(Hansen et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2021)
genic ⁻ cells	Mouse	τርκ νβ	Unknown	T cells mediating Heart graft rejection	Unknown	(Choi et al., 2020)
cytog es	Mouse	Unknown	Unknown	Isolated from infected host	Unknown	(Seaman et al., 1999)
titis C	Human	HCV core	YLLPRRGPRL	Isolated from infected host	Unknown	(Schulte et al., 2009)
2	Human	BZLF1	SQAPLPCVL	HLA-E expressing RMA-S loaded with synthetic peptides/Tetramers	Unknown	(Jørgensen et al., 2012)

Table1: MHC-E Restricted Responses

Chapter 2

The promiscuous development of an unconventional Qa1^b-restricted T cell population

2.1 Introduction

Thymic development of conventional CD8 T cells requires low affinity, but specific recognition of self-peptides bound to MHC 1 molecules expressed by cortical thymic epithelial cells, and gives rise to naïve circulating CD8 T cells. Conventional CD8 T cells recognize peptides bound to classical MHC 1 (called MHC 1a) molecules, in contrast to unconventional T cell populations that recognize a diverse set of non-classical MHC 1 (called MHC 1b) (Legoux et al., 2017; Rodgers and Cook, 2005). MHC 1b molecules are structurally homologous to MHC 1a, and often associate with β 2m, but are generally non-polymorphic, and can bind peptides or non-peptidic ligands (Adams and Luoma, 2013). The two most prominent and well-studied examples of unconventional $\alpha\beta$ TCR-expressing T cells are mucosal associated invariant T cells (MAIT cells), that recognize vitamin B metabolites presented by MR1, and invariant natural killer T cells (iNK T cells), that recognize lipid metabolites presented by CD1d. MAIT cells and iNK T cells, like conventional T cells, require their cognate MHC ligand to develop in the thymus. However, unlike conventional T cells, they recognize ligands presented by thymic antigen presenting cells (APCs) of hematopoietic origin (Bendelac, 1995; Seach et al., 2013), and show signs of strong TCR stimulation during development, termed agonist selection signaling (Stritesky et al., 2012). The development of T cells restricted to other MHC 1b molecules remains understudied (Bediako et al., 2012; Berg et al., 1999; Chiu et al., 1999; Cho et al., 2011; Doorduijn et al., 2016; Sullivan et al., 2002).

While MHC 1b restricted T cells are relatively rare in circulation, they contribute substantially to the intestinal epithelial lymphocyte (IEL) compartment (Das et al., 2000; Gapin et al., 1999; Park et al., 1999). $\alpha\beta$ TCR+ IEL are generally classified as either induced or natural IELs, which differ in their specificity and developmental pathways. Induced IELs, which express the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer, are specific for classical MHC 1a molecules and are derived from conventional CD8 T cells following antigen encounter in the periphery. On the other hand, natural IEL, which predominantly express the CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ homodimer, can recognize a variety of different MHC ligands and are programmed for an IEL fate by strong recogniton of self ligands in the thymus (Mayans et al., 2014; McDonald et al., 2014). Studies of the development of natural IELs have largely focused on populations of $\alpha\beta$ TCR+CD4-CD8- (double negative or DN) thymocytes, which can give rise to CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ IEL upon transfer into T cell deficient mice (Pobezinsky et al., 2012; Ruscher et al., 2017). However, it is unclear whether all natural IEL develop via an $\alpha\beta$ TCR+DN population. Moreover, while it is known that many natural IEL require β 2m, but not MHC 1a molecules, for their development (Das et al., 2000; Gapin et al., 1999; Mayans et al., 2014; McDonald et al., 2014; Park et al., 1999), the specifity of IEL for particular MHC 1b molecules remains largely unknown. As a result, no studies to date have focused on the development of IELs specific for defined MHC 1b molecules.

The MHC 1b molecule MHC-E (called Qa1 in mouse) is best known for its role in regulating NK cell responses, however, recent attention has focused on its function as a restricting MHC molecule for CD8 T cells (Godfrey et al., 2018; van Hall et al., 2010; Sharpe et al., 2019). In healthy cells, MHC-E molecules predominantly display a self-peptide derived from an MHC 1a leader

peptide (called QDM peptide in mouse), which serves as a ligand for NK receptors and provides an inhibitory signal to NK cells (Braud et al., 1998; Vance et al., 1998). However, under conditions of impaired MHC 1a presentation, such as deficiency in ERAAP (endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase associated with antigen processing) or TAP (transporter associated with antigen processing), the QDM peptide is replaced by an alternative set of peptides that can be recognized by CD8 T cells (Doorduijn et al., 2016, 2018; Hammer et al., 2007; Nagarajan et al., 2012). MHC-E restricted T cells responsive to TAP and ERAAP deficient cells have been proposed to play a role in monitoring defects in MHC 1a presentation induced by transformation or stress (Doorduijn et al., 2018; Nagarajan et al., 2012). In addition, pathogen-specific MHC-E restricted CD8 T cells can be activated upon infection with a variety of viruses and bacteria (Anderson et al., 2019; Bian et al., 2017; Lo et al., 1999; Seaman et al., 1999; Shang et al., 2016). Recent studies of a CMVvectored anti-HIV vaccine showed that MHC-E restricted CD8 T cells can produce responses that are extremely broad, with an unusually large proportion of the potential epitopes being targeted for recognition, and which provide strong immune protection (Hansen et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2021). Altogether, the ability of MHC-E restricted T cells to respond broadly to both microbial antigens and abnormal self suggests an unusual mode of T cell recognition with significant therapeutic potential. However, our limited understanding of the specificity and development of MHC-E restricted CD8 T cells hampers our ability to harness these responses for therapeutic purposes.

Perhaps the best characterized example of an MHC-E restricted CD8 T cell response are QFL T cells, which recognize <u>Q</u>a1^b loaded with a self-peptide called <u>FL</u>9 derived from Fam49a/b proteins (Nagarajan et al., 2012). QFL T cells were discovered as part of the mouse T cell response against cells deficient for the MHC 1a processing enzyme ERAAP, and they expand and acquire effector functions upon immunization of wild type mice with ERAAP deficient splenocytes. Interestingly, QFL T cells display hybrid characteristics of both conventional and unconventional T cells. Like conventional MHC 1a-restricted T cells, QFL T cells are found in the spleen and express the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer. However, reminiscent of MAIT and iNK T cells, they use a semi-invariant TCR with a fixed TCR α and limited TCR β usage (Guan et al., 2017). Splenic QFL T cells display an antigen experienced phenotype in wild type, unimmunized mice, reminiscent of conventional CD8 T cells that acquire a memory phenotype following homeostatic proliferation to self, termed "memory phenotype" or "virtual memory" T cells (Jameson and Masopust, 2018; White et al., 2017). While QFL T cells can be detected using FL9-Qa1^b tetramers (called QFL tetramers) in wild type and Qa1^b deficient mice (Nagarajan et al., 2012), their development in the thymus, and their contribution to the IEL compartment have not yet been examined.

Here we use both QFL tetramers and mice expressing rearranged QFL-specific $\alpha\beta$ TCR transgenes to probe the development of QFL T cells in wild type and MHC deficient mice. QFL T cells can be readily detected in the spleen, thymus, and IEL compartment, with QFL T cells in the IEL compartment comprised of both CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ phenotypes. Our data indicate that Qa1^b expression, predominantly by hematopoietic cells, drives the agonist selection of QFL T cells in the thymus, leading to mature CD8+CD4- thymocytes that exhibit signs of strong TCR signals. However, QFL T cells also recognize an alternative MHC 1 ligand, which can allow for positive selection of QFL CD8SP thymocytes with a more conventional phenotype in the absence of Qa1^b. Our data highlight the promiscuous recognition and development of QFL T cells, confirm their hybrid conventional/unconventional characteristics, and suggest an alternative pathway for the development of natural IELs.

2.2 Results

Characterization of QFL T cells in wild type and TCR transgenic mice

To investigate the development of QFL specific T cells, we used tetramer enrichment of lymphocytes using Qa1^b tetramers loaded with the FL9 peptide (Nagarajan et al., 2012) (hereafter called QFL tetramers). To increase the specificity of detection, we co-stained using both the QFL tetramer and an antibody specific for V α 3.2, which recognizes the invariant TCR α chain used by the majority of QFL T cells (Guan et al., 2017). The double stained populations were considered "bonafide" QFL T cells. The majority of QFL T cells in the thymus, spleen and small intestine (SI) intraepithelial lymphocyte (IEL) compartment of wild type mice were CD8 α ⁺CD4- (Figure 2.1A). Interestingly, while mature QFLT cells in thymus and spleen predominantly expressed the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer (Supplementary Figure 2.1A-B), QFL T cells in the IEL compartment were a mixture of cells expressing CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ or CD8 $\alpha\beta$ (Supplementary Figure 2.1A-B). As previously reported (Nagarajan et al., 2012), QFL T cells were relatively abundant in the spleen of wild type mice (~ 1/6197 of CD8 T cells or ~1325/spleen/mouse, Figure 2.1B, C). For comparison, a previous study reported a range of 1/30,000 to 1/160,000 for conventional CD8 T cell populations (Obar et al., 2008). Additionally, QFL T cells were identified in the thymus and IEL compartment of the small intestine, with an average of 245 QFL T cells and 1,174 QFL T cells respectively (Figure 2.1B). The frequency of QFLT cells out of mature CD8 T cells was higher in the SI IEL compared to the thymus and spleen, suggesting that they undergo selective recruitment and/or expansion in this compartment.

Previous studies showed that QFL T cells respond to a self-peptide presented by Qa1^b (Nagarajan et al., 2012). In addition, splenic QFL T cells from wild type mice display an antigen experienced phenotype, suggesting that they may receive strong TCR signals during their development in the thymus. To test this notion, we examined expression of CD5, a marker which positively correlates with self-reactivity (Azzam et al., 2001; Fulton et al., 2015; Mandl et al., 2013). As predicted, we observed that CD5 is elevated in QFL CD8SP thymocytes compared to conventional CD8 single positive (SP) T cells (Figure 2.1D). In addition, QFL CD8SP thymocytes showed slight but detectable downregulation of CD8 β compared to conventional CD8SP T cells (Figure 2.1E), a phenotype that has been associated with thymocyte self-reactivity and agonist selection (Kurd et al., 2021; Yamagata et al., 2004).

As a complementary method to characterize QFL T cells, we developed a TCR transgenic mouse that expresses rearranged TCR transgenes encoding the semi-invariant QFL TCR α and β genes (V α 3.2 and V β 1) from a QFL T cell clone (Guan et al., 2017), henceforth referred to as QFLTg. The mature QFL CD8SP thymocytes in these mice displayed elevated expression of CD5, similar to QFL

thymocytes from non-transgenic mice (Figure 2.1D, Supplementary Figure 2.1C). Mature QFL CD8SP thymocyte from QFLTg mice also showed downregulation of CD8 β , which was more pronounced than that observed in QFL CD8SP from non-transgenic mice (Figure 2.1E). CD8SP thymocytes from QFLTg mice also show elevated levels of several markers associated with agonist selection, such as the transcription factors PLZF (Koay et al., 2016; Savage et al., 2008) and Tbet (Supplementary Figure 2.1D). On the other hand splenic, but not thymic, QFL CD8SP T cells express elevated levels of CD44, a marker associated with T cell proliferation (Figure 2.1F) (Supplementary Figure 2.1D). In addition, QFL CD8SP thymocytes from QFLTg mice did not show detectable upregulation of PD1 or $\alpha 4\beta 7$, markers that are expressed by a subset of thymic IEL precursors (Supplementary Figure 2.1D) (Ruscher et al., 2017). Taken together these data suggest that QFL T cells experience relatively strong TCR stimulation and undergo agonist selection during their development in the thymus.

QFL T cell development in absence of Qa1^b or classical MHC 1

Previous reports showed that QFL T cells are detectable in the spleen of mice lacking Qa1^b, but undetectable in mice lacking β 2m (Nagarajan et al., 2012), a subunit of MHC 1 which is required for proper folding and surface expression of both classical MHC 1a and Qa1^b (Robinson et al., 1998). This suggested the possibility that QFL T cells undergo positive selection on classical MHC 1a. To test this hypothesis, we generated K^bD^bKO mice and compared the number of QFL T cells in the thymus and spleen to that of WT and Qa1^bKO mice (Figure 2.2A). The QFL CD8SP thymocytes were slightly reduced in both K^bD^bKO and Qa1^bKO relative to wild type mice, but were undetectable in β 2mKO mice (Figure 2.2A). Similar results were obtained with QFLTg mice, with substantial numbers QFL thymocytes found in the absence of Qa1^b or K^bD^b, but not in the absence of β 2m (Figure 2.2B). These data suggest that neither classical MHC 1a, nor Qa1^b are required for QFL T cell positive selection, although both may contribute to the efficiency of the process. Interestingly, CD8SP T cells in spleens of K^bD^bKO mice exhibit a higher frequency of V α 3.2⁺ cells compared to WT or Qa1^bKO mice (Supplementary Figure 2.2D), indicating that this V segment is preferentially used by T cells reactive to MHC 1b molecules.

Because Qa1^b presents agonist FL9 peptide to QFL T cells, we hypothesized that expression of Qa1^b might lead to agonist and negative selection of QFL thymocytes. In support of this, DP thymocytes in QFLTg (Qa1^b sufficient) mice exhibit reduced cellularity and a "DP^{lo}" phenotype associated with strong TCR signals (Kreslavsky et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2021; McDonald et al., 2014, 2015) whereas QFLTg Qa1^bKO mice express normal levels of CD4 and CD8 α (Figure 2.2C). In addition, QFL CD8SP thymocytes from Qa1^b sufficient, but not Qa1^bKO mice, displayed CD8 β downregulation, PLZF expression, and elevated CD5 expression compared to conventional mature CD8SP thymocytes (Figure 2.2D-F). In contrast, in the absence of classical MHC 1 (K^bD^bKO mice) QFL CD8SP T cells showed strong downregulation of CD8 β expression, maintained PLZF expression and showed a slight reduction in CD5 expression compared to WT mice (Figure 2.2D-F). In the periphery, QFL T cells lost their antigen experienced phenotype in absence of Qa1^b, but not in absence of classical MHC 1 (Supplemental Fig. 2.2C). These data suggest that Qa1^b is required for agonist selection, but not the positive selection, of QFL T cells.

QFL T cells recognize an alternative ligand on Qa1^bKO APCs

To further explore the ligand-specificity of the QFL TCR we took advantage of the observation that MHC-naïve DP thymocytes are highly sensitive to in vitro TCR stimulation (Davey et al., 1998; Lucas et al., 1999). We examined expression of activation markers on pre-selection QFLTg (preQFLTg) thymocytes from a β 2mKO background after co-culture with bone marrow derived dendritic cells (BMDC) isolated from mice lacking either Qa1^b, K^bD^b or β 2m. PreQFLTg thymocytes showed stronger upregulation of the activation markers CD69 and CD5 upon 24 hour co-culture with WT and K^bD^bKO, compared to Qa1^bKO BMDC (Figure 2.2G). This is consistent with the hypothesis that ERAAP sufficient cells can present low levels of the FL9 peptide on Qa1^b (Nagarajan et al., 2012). Interestingly, preQFLTg thymocytes showed a modest activation when co-cultured with Qa1^bKO BMDCs; significantly more compared to co-culture with β 2mKO BMDCs (Figure 2.2G). A similar pattern of reactivity was observed when preQFLTg were cultured in thymic slices derived from WT, Qa1^bKO and β 2mKO mice (Supplementary Figure 2.3). This is consistent with the development of QFL T cells in Qa1^bKO mice, and suggests that the QFL TCR is cross-reactive with an alternative β 2m-utilizing molecule, most likely classical MHC 1.

Non-hematopoietic versus hematopoietic selection of QFL T cells

While conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells undergo positive selection by recognition of MHC molecules on thymic epithelial cells, MAIT cells and iNKT cells undergo positive selection via interactions with hematopoietic cells (Bendelac, 1995; Seach et al., 2013). To investigate the cell type requirements for selection of QFL T cells, we generated reciprocal bone marrow chimeric mice in which either the donor cells or the host cells are β 2mKO, and therefore lack surface expression of classical MHC 1 molecules H2-D, H2-K, as well as Qa1 (Figure 2.3 and Supplementary Figure 2.4). Interestingly, comparable numbers of QFL T cells were found in the thymus and spleen of the β 2mKO>WT and WT> β 2mKO chimeric mice (Supplementary Figure 2.4B-C), implying that QFL T cell development could occur efficiently on either non-hematopoietic or hematopoietic cells. To confirm these results, we generated reciprocal β 2mKO chimeras using donor cells that expressed the QFL TCR transgene (Figure 2.3A). While there was some reduction in QFL T cell number in the thymus of β 2mKO>WT compared to WT> β 2mKO and wild type control chimeras (Figure 3B), similar numbers of QFL T cells were found in the spleen (Figure 2.3C). Thus QFL T cell development is not strictly dependent on either non-hematopoietic or hematopoietic expression of MHC 1.

We also examined whether QFL T cells that are selected exclusively by hematopoietic or nonhematopoietic cells retained their agonist selected phenotype. QFL thymocytes exhibited comparable CD8 β downregulation, but decreased PLZF expression when MHC 1 was restricted to non-hematopoietic cells (Figure 2.3D-E, Supplementary Figure 2.4D). Similarly, expression of CD5 was decreased when MHC 1 was restricted to non-hematopoietic cells (Figure 2.3F, Supplementary Figure 2.4E). In the periphery, QFL T cells in chimeric mice that lacked MHC 1 on hematopoietic cells did not display elevated expression of CD44 (Figure 2.3G, Supplementary Figure 2.4F). Overall, the thymic phenotype of QFL T cells in β 2mKO>WT chimeras is similar, but not identical, to that observed in Qa1^bKO mice (Figure 2.2D-F). These data suggest that Qa1^b on both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells contribute to agonist selection, with hematopoietic cells playing the predominant role.

Impact of agonist selection on QFL T cell function

To test how agonist selection impacts the functionality of QFL T cells, we compared QFL T cells that arose in the presence or absence of Qa1^b for their ability to respond in vitro to ERAAPKO splenocytes. QFL T cells from QFLTg showed more extensive upregulation of activation markers and increased proliferation in response to stimulation compared to QFL T cells from QFLTg Qa1^bKO mice (Figure 2.4A-B), implying that agonist selection on Qa1^b led to greater functional responsiveness. Since agonist selection partially correlates with selection on hematopoietic cells (Figure 2.3, Supplementary Figure 2.3), we also examined QFL splenocytes from reciprocal β 2mKO and wild type bone marrow chimeras mice as an further test of the impact of agonist selection on function. QFL T cells from QFLTg> β 2mKO mice (HC selected) responded more robustly to ERAAPKO APCs compared to cells from QFLTg β 2mKO>WT mice (non-HC selected) (Figure 2.4A,B). Thus QFL T cells that develop in the absence of Qa1^b, or in the absence of hematopoietically expressed MHC 1, exhibit reduced functionality.

Agonist selected QFL thymocytes can populate the intestinal epithelial compartment

QFL thymocytes display an agonist selected phenotype that is enhanced by hematopoietic expression of MHC 1, implying that they can give rise to intraepithelial lymphocytes. To test this idea, we injected Rag2KO neonatal mice with QFL thymocytes from HC selected (QFLTg> β 2mKO), non-HC selected (QFLTg β 2mKO>WT) or both HC and non-HC selected (QFLTg>WT) chimeric mice (Figure 2.4C). Both the HC selected QFLT cells and HC+ non-HC QFL T cells were readily detectable in the spleen and IEL compartment of the SI (Figure 2.4D). Surprisingly, non-HC selected QFL thymocytes were not detected in the spleen or IEL compartment in this transfer system, although they were readily detectable in the spleen of intact bone marrow chimeric mice (Figure 2.3C).

Although HC selected QFL T cells and HC+ non-HC selected QFL T cells were recovered from the IEL compartment in similar numbers (Figure 2.4D), HC selected QFL T cells showed more pronounced downregulation of CD8 β (~50%) when compared to HC+EC selected QFL T cells (~10%)(Figure 2.4E). Interestingly, the CD8 β downregulation observed in the IEL compartment of transferred Rag2KO mice is less pronounced that that observed in intact QFLTg mice (Supplementary Figure 2.1B). This suggests that QFL T cells may initially migrate to the gut with a CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^+$ phenotype, and then gradually downregulate CD8 β once resident in the IEL compartment.

2.3 Discussion

Most studies of unconventional T cells have focused on 2 prominent populations, MAIT (MR1restricted) and iNKT (CD1d restricted) cells, and much less is known about the development of T cells restricted to other MHC 1b molecules. Moreover, while it is known that non classical MHC molecules contribute substantially to the CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ natural IEL compartment(Das et al., 2000; Gapin et al., 1999; Park et al., 1999), and there is evidence that thymic mature CD4-CD8- cells contain IEL precursors (Golec et al., 2017; Klose et al., 2014; Pobezinsky et al., 2012; Ruscher et al., 2017), it is unclear whether all natural IEL develop via a mature DN pathway. Here we have used both QFL TCR transgenic mice and FL9-Qa1^b tetramer staining of non-transgenic mice to investigate the development of a population of self-reactive Qa1^b restricted cells known as QFL T cells. QFL T cells are found in circulation as both naïve and memory phenotype CD8 $\alpha\beta$ T cells and in the IEL compartment as both CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ cells, whereas mature QFL thymocytes are predominantly CD8 $\alpha\beta$ +CD4- and show signs of agonist selection. QFL T cells have a more relaxed requirement for positive selection compared to conventional CD8 T cells, requiring β 2m on either hematopoietic or epithelial cells, but neither the restricting molecule Qa1^b, nor MHC 1 for positive selection. However, QFL thymocytes do require Qa1^b for agonist selection and full functionality. Our data highlight the promiscuous requirements for positive selection of a Qa1 restricted T cell population, and identify an alternative CD8 $\alpha\beta$ +CD4- pathway for development of CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ IELs.

The flexible thymic development of QFL T cells parallels their ability to give rise to T cells with both conventional and unconventional properties. Unconventional MAIT and iNKT cells require selection by their restricting MHC molecules on hematopoietic cells, giving rise to T cells that migrate to tissues and exhibit preformed effector program. On the other hand, conventional CD8 T cells require selection by their restricting MHC 1a molecules on thymic epithelial cells, producing circulating naïve T cells that lack effector programing. QFL T cells appear to have the option to develop by either of these pathways, with selection by Qa1^b on hematopoietic cells leading to a more unconventional phenotype, and selection via an alternative MHC 1 ligand giving rise to T cells that resemble conventional CD8 T cells. Interestingly, the ability to be selected on either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells in the thymus has been reported both for another Qa1 restricted T cell population (Sullivan et al., 2002), as well as a T cell population restricted to the MHC 1b molecule H2-M3 (Cho et al., 2011). While the M3 restricted cells required M3 expression for thymic selection, hematopoietic selection led to T cells with more unconventional functional properties compared to epithelial selection. Thus, a flexible pattern of thymic selection leading to alternative functional programs may be a general feature of T cell reactive to some MHC 1b molecules.

The IEL compartment harbors 2 distinct types of $\alpha\beta$ TCR+CD8+ T cells: CD8 $\alpha\beta$ T cells that are derived from conventional CD8 T cells following encounter with foreign antigen and differentiation into tissue resident T cells, and "natural" CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ IEL that are directed into an IEL program in the thymus due to their high self-reactivity. The observation that the same TCR clone can give rise to both types of IEL blurs the distinction between these two types of IEL.

Previous studies of natural IEL development have suggested a pathway in which some DP thymocytes that receive strong TCR signals escape clonal deletion and downregulate CD4 and CD8 to give rise to mature CD4-CD8- IELp that can eventually migrate to the gut and upregulate CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ (McDonald et al., 2018; Ruscher et al., 2017). Our data are consistent with an alternative pathway for natural IEL development in which agonist selection leads to a mature CD8 $\alpha\beta$ +CD4- thymic IELp, and complete downregulation of CD8 β occurs after migration to the IEL compartment. This pathway is consistent with earlier studies of thymocytes agonist selection in organ culture that also implicated mature CD8SP as a thymic precursors to natural IEL (Kurd et al., 2021; Yamagata et al., 2004).

Our data, together with published observations, support the notion that MHC-E restricted CD8 T cells are generally cross-reactive. We observed that QFL thymocytes are positively selected in the absence of Qa1^b, and respond to Qa1^bKO APCs implying cross-reactivity to an alternative β2m dependent molecule. The MHC-E restricted response to an CMV-vectored HIV vaccine showed extremely broad reactivity, with detectable responses to 4 epitopes for every 100 amino acids (Hansen et al., 2016b). In addition, another Qa1^b restricted clone was shown to cross react with an MHC 1a molecule (Reed-Loisel et al., 2005), although it was dependent on Qa1^b for its positive selection (Sullivan et al., 2002). In this regard, it is intriguing that QFL T cells show strong preferential use of V α 3.2 (encoded by TRAV9N-3) (Guan et al., 2017). V α 3.2 is preferentially used by CD8 compared to CD4 T cells(Sim et al., 1998) and has been suggested to be inherently reactive to MHC 1 (Prasad et al., 2021). In addition, V α 3.2 is enriched in a subset of natural IELs (Ruscher et al., 2017), and is used by another Qa1^b-restricted CD8 T cell clone (Sullivan et al., 2002). Moreover, we found that the frequency of V α 3.2+ CD8 T cells is substantially increased in K^bD^bKO mice (Supplementary Figure 2D). Altogether, these observations suggest that V α 3.2 may work together with Qa1^b, and perhaps other non-classical MHC 1 molecules, to generate self-reactive T cells with a propensity to give rise to memory phenotype and natural IEL T cells.

If MHC-E reactive CD8 T cells are inherently cross-reactive, how do they escape negative selection in the thymus? While thymocyte intrinsic mechanisms, such as downregulation of CD4 and CD8 may contribute (McDonald et al., 2015), it is interesting to consider how properties of the MHC molecules may also play a role. In particular, MHC-E molecules tend to be expressed at lower levels on the cell surface compared to MHC 1a molecules (Kambayashi et al., 2004; Sullivan et al., 2002, 2008), a property that may be linked to their atypical peptide presentation pathway (Grotzke et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2009) and/or low surface stability (Kambayashi et al., 2004) In addition, MHC-E molecules predominantly express a single self-peptide derived from MHC 1a leader peptides (Braud et al., 1997; Zeng et al., 2012), and may not present a large array of self-peptides in healthy cells. Indeed, it has been proposed that MHC-E molecules may monitor alterations in the MHC 1a peptide presentation pathway that occur upon viral infection or cellular transformation(Doorduijn et al., 2016; Nagarajan et al., 2012). According to this notion, MHC-E restricted T cells may undergo rare or transient encounters with high affinity self-peptide-MHC-E complexes during their development in the

thymus, allowing them to experience agonist selection signals while avoiding negative selection.

2.4 Figures



Figure 2.1: Characterization of QFL T cells in non-transgenic and transgenic mice. A-C) QFLT cells were identified by flow cytometry from wild type mice. A) Representative plots of QFL tetramer and V α 3.2 TCR α from tetramer enriched thymocytes, tetramer enriched splenocytes, and unenriched small intestine intraepithelial lymphocytes. Splenocytes and IEL were gated for TCR β + cells. CD4 and $CD8\alpha$ expression on the indicated gated populations are shown below. B) Absolute numbers of QFL CD8SP T cells in the indicated compartments of wild type mice. C) Frequency of QFL CD8SP T cells out of total CD8SP T cells in the indicated compartments of wild type mice. For tetramer enriched samples, frequencies out of CD8 T cells were determined by back-calculating to the unenriched samples. Greyed area represents the range of frequencies observed for naïve conventional CD8SP T cells based on (Obar et al., 2008). D) Ratio of CD5 gMFI of QFL CD8SP T cells from QFLTg mice (Green) (Gated: QFL tetramer⁺CD24⁻CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) and non-transgenic mice (Blue) (tetramer enriched and gated: QFL tetramer⁺ V α 3.2⁺ CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) over conventional CD8SP CD5 gMFI. **E)** Representative plots of CD8 β and CD8 α expression on mature QFL CD8SP thymocytes from QFL TCR transgenic mice (QFLTg) (Gated: QFL tetramer⁺CD24⁻CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻, as in Supplementary Figure 1C), non-transgenic tetramer enriched (Gated: QFL tetramer⁺ and V α 3.2⁺CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) thymi and conventional CD8SP (Gated: CD8 α^+ CD4⁻) from unenriched non-transgenic thymi are shown for comparison. Dot plots show compiled data from QFLtg (green) and non-transgenic QFL tetramer⁺ thymocytes (blue). The average value for conventional CD8SP is indicated by dashed line. F) Representative histogram of CD44 expression on QFL CD8SP T cells from splenocytes of QFLTg mice (Green), and non-transgenic mice (Blue) (QFL tetramer enriched and gated: TCR β +B220⁻QFL tetramer+V α 3.2+CD8 α +CD4-), and conventional CD8SP T cells (Grey histogram). Dot plots show compiled data for QFL T cells from transgenic and non-transgenic spleen. The average value for conventional CD8+ splenocytes is indicated by dashed line. Statistical analyses: One way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. #

P value <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value <0.0005, #### P value <0.00001 For data that are normalized to conventional CD8SP, significance for comparisons to


Figure 2.2: MHC requirements for QFL T cell development A) Relative number of QFL T cells in thymi (tetramer enriched and gated: QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) or spleen (tetramer enriched and gated: TCR β^+ QFLtetramer $^+$ V α 3.2 $^+$ CD8 α^+ CD4 $^-$) of non-transgenic mice of the indicated genotype. To correct for variation in the efficiency of tetramer enrichment, data are normalized to the number of QFL T cells recovered from a wild type mouse analyzed in the same experiment. B) Number of QFL CD8SP T cells in the thymi (Gated: QFLtetramer⁺ CD24⁻CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) or spleens (Gated: TCR β ⁺QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺ CD8 α^+ CD4⁻) of QFLTg mice crossed to the indicated gene knock out strains. C) Representative plots of CD4 and CD8 α expression on QFL thymocytes from QFLTg and QFLTg. Qa1^bKO mice. Dot plot shows compiled data for % of CD4lowCD8 α low in individual mice (Gated:live cells). Panel to the right shows thymus cellularity from QFLTg and QFLTg Qa1^bKO mice. Each dot represents an individual mouse. **D)** Representative plots of CD8 β and CD8 α expression on QFL CD8SP thymocytes (Gated: QFL tetramer⁺CD24⁻CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) from QFLTg, QFLTg Qa1^bKO and QFLTg K^bD^bKO mice. Conventional CD8+ thymocytes from wild type mice (Gated:CD8 α^+ CD4⁻) are shown for comparison. Graph shows % of CD8 β low out of QFL CD8SP T cells in thymi of non-transgenic or QFLTg mice of the indicated genotypes. Dotted line indicated the average value (5.2%) for conventional CD8SP (Gated: $CD8\alpha^+CD4^-$) from wild type mice. E) CD5 expression on QFL CD8SP thymocytes from either non transgenic or QFLTg mice of the indicated genotypes. Graph shows gMFI of CD5 expression of QFLT cells normalized to the gMFI of conventional CD8SP thymocytes from wild type mice analyzed in the same experiment. F) Representative histogram of PLZF expression in QFL CD8SP T cells from QFLTg mice of the indicated genotypes. Grey histograms represents conventional CD8SP (Gated:CD8 α^+ CD4⁻). G) Pre-selection QFL thymocytes (from QFLTg β 2mKO mice) were co-cultured with Bone Marrow Derived Dendritic cells (BMDC) from the indicated mouse strains. Representative flow cytometry plots of CD5 and CD69 expression on QFL DP thymocytes (Gated:QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD4⁺CD8 α ⁺) after 24 hours of co-culture. Dot plots show compiled data, with each dot representing a sample from an individual culture well. Statistical analysis: One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. For comparisons across displayed samples (shown above dots) # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.00001. For comparisons to wild type samples (panel A), or to conventional CD8SP (panel B) (shown below sample name) * P value <0.05, ** P value <0.005 *** P value<0.0005.











•

Figure 2.3: Requirement for epithelial cell or hematopoietic cell in QFL selection A) Diagram of experimental design. QFLTg or QFLTg β 2mKO mice were used as bone marrow donors to reconstitute irradiated β 2mKO or wild type hosts in order to restrict MHC 1 expression to hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells. **B-C)** Absolute numbers of QFL CD8SP T cells in the indicated chimeric mice in **B**) Thymus (gated: QFLtetramer⁺CD24⁻CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) and **C)** Spleens (gated: TCR β^+ QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD8 α^+ CD4⁻). **D**) Downregulation of CD8 β on QFL CD8SP thymocytes of the indicated chimeric mice. Dotted line represents the average for conventional CD8SP (Gated: CD8 α^+ CD4-) from unenriched non-transgenic thymi (5.2%).E) Quantification of PLZF expression in QFL CD8SP thymocytes from the indicated chimeric . F) CD5 expression on QFL CD8SP thymocytes of the indicated chimeric mice. Data from QFLTg Qa1^bKO mice is from Figure 2D and is included for comparison. Graph shows gMFI of CD5 expression of QFL thymocytes normalized to the gMFI of conventional CD8SP thymocytes from wild type mice analyzed in the same experiment. G) Quantification of CD44 expression of QFL CD8SP T cells(Gated: TCR β^+ QFLtetramer $^+$ V α 3.2 $^+$ CD8 α^+ CD4 $^-$) from: WT> β 2mKO (Black dots), β 2mKO>WT (Magenta dots), WT>WT (Teal dots) chimeric spleens and Qa1^bKO(Light blue dots) spleens. Dotted line represents the average value for conventional CD8SP (Gated: TCR β ⁺CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻) (22%). Statistical analysis: One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.00001. One way ANOVA comparing samples to conventional CD8 T cells (shown below sample name). * P value <0.05, ** P value <0.005 *** P value<0.0005.



Figure 2.4: Agonist selected QFL T cells respond rapidly to antigen exposure and home to the IEL compartment.

A-B) QFL CD8SP T cells from QFLTg or QFLTgQa1^bKO mice or from QFLTg> β 2mKO (Hematopoietic cell (HC) Selected) or QFLTg β 2mKO>WT(non-HC selected) bone marrow chimeric mice were labeled with CFSE and co-cultured with splenocytes from ERAAP KO or wild type mice, and analyzed after 24, 48, or 72 hours of co-culture. Representative plots and quantification of CFSE dilution (A) or CD69 surface expression (B) on QFL CD8SP T cells (Gated: TCR β^+ B220⁻QFL tetramer⁺ V α 3.2⁺CD8 α ⁺). C) Experimental design: Bone marrow chimeric mice using QFLTg bone marrow donors and lacking β 2m on either donor or host were generated as in Figure 3A. After 8-11 weeks of reconstitution, CD4 depleted thymocytes from chimeric mice were injected into Rag2KO neonates, and spleen and small intestinal IEL compartments were analyzed 14-15 weeks post injection. D) Left-hand panels show representative flow cytometry plots of QFL tetramer and V α 3.2 from spleen or IEL of the indicated transferred Rag2KO mice. ND=non detectable Plots on the right show the number of QFL tetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD8 α ⁺ cells recovered from each sample. **E)** Surface expression of CD8 α and CD8 β on QFL T cells (Gated: TCR β^+ QFL tetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD8 α ⁺) isolated from the IEL compartment of the indicated transferred Rag2KO mice.

Statistical analyses: Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test comparing samples to each other in their respective time point. # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.00001. student's T test. * P value, <0.05, **P value <0.005, *** P value<0.0005, ****P value<0.00001



Supplemental Figure 2.1: QFL T cell characterization. A-B) (Left) Representative plots of CD8a and CD8b of QFL CD8SP splenocytes (Right) Representative plots CD4, CD8 α and CD8 β of QFL T cells in the SI IEL compartment. Quantification of CD4, CD8 α and CD8 β surface expression on QFL T cells (Gated: TCR β +QFLtetramer+Va3.2+) in the SI IEL compartment of non-transgenic (A) and QFLTg (B) mice. CD4SP (CD4⁺CD8 α ⁻) (Black dots), DN (CD4-CD8 α^{-})(Magenta dots), CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ (CD4⁻CD8 α^{+} CD8 β^{-}) (Teal dots), CD8 $\alpha\beta$ (CD4⁻CD8 α^+ CD8 β^+)(Purple dots. **C)** Representative plots showing the gating strategy to identify QFL CD8SP T cells in non-transgenic (tetramer enriched) and QFLTg thymocytes. Note that virtually all QFL tetramer⁺CD24⁻ from QFLTg mice express V α 3.2 (lower histogram). **D)** Representative histograms of PLZF, Tbet, PD1 and $\alpha 4\beta7$ in QFL CD8SP thymocytes (Light Blue curve/dots) (Gated: QFL tetramer⁺CD24⁻CD8 α +CD4⁻) and conventional CD8SP T cells (Grey histogram/dots) (Gated: TCR β^+ CD8 α^+ CD4⁻). Quantification of PLZF reported as represented as %PLZF⁺ out of QFL CD8SP thymocytes or conventional CD8SP thymocytes. Quantification of Tbet, PD1, $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CD44 are expressed as a ratio of gMFI on QFL CD8SP thymocytes over conventional CD8SP thymocytes. Statistical analysis: One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.00001. student's T test. * P value, <0.05, **P value <0.005, *** P value<0.0005, ****P value<0.00001.



Supplemental Figure 2.2: Phenotype of KbDbKO and Qa1bKO thymus and spleen A) Representative flow plots of CD4 and CD8 α expression on unenriched WT, K^bD^bKO, Qa1^bKO and β 2mKO thymocytes (Gated: Live cells) and splenocytes (Gated: TCR β^+). **B**) Representative flow plots of QFL tetramer and V α 3.2 expression on tetramer enriched thymocytes (Gated: Live) and splenocytes (Gated: TCR β^+) of B6, K^bD^bKO, Qa1^bKO and β 2mKO mice (Gated: Live cells). **C**) Representative histogram and compiled data of CD44 expression on QFL CD8SP T cells (Gated: TCR β^+ QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD8 α^+) in Non Transgenic (Left of the line) and QFL Transgenic (**Right of the line**): WT (Purple dots), Qa1^bKO (Magenta dots) and K^bD^bKO spleens. Dotted line represents the average value for conventional CD8SP (Gated: TCR β^+ CD8 α^+) (22%). **D**) Frequency of V α 3.2⁺ cells out of CD8SP splenocytes from the indicated mouse strains. Statistical analyses: One way ANOVA comparing samples to conventional CD8 T cells (shown below sample name). * P value <0.05, ** P value <0.005 *** P value<0.0005. One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, #### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.0001



Supplemental Figure 2.3: QFL thymocyte stimulation in thymic tissue slice culture. A-B) Pre-selection QFL thymocytes (from QFLTg β 2mKO mice) were overlaid onto thymic tissue slices from the indicated mouse strains. Representative flow cytometry plots of (A) CD5 and CD69 expression or (B) CD5 and CD4 expression on QFL DP thymocytes (Gated:QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD4⁺CD8 α ⁺) after 3 and 24 hours of co-culture. Dot plots show compiled data of two experiments, with each dot representing a sample from an individual thymic slice.Statistical analysis: Two way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. For comparisons across displayed samples (shown above dots) # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, #### P value<0.0001





Supplemental Figure 2.4: Requirement of Hematopoietic cells and Nonhematopoietic cells in QFLT cell development in non-transgenic mice A) Diagram of experimental design. Non-transgenic WT or β 2mKO mice were used as bone marrow donors to reconstitute irradiated β 2mKO or wild type hosts in order to restrict MHC 1 expression to hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells. B-C) Absolute numbers of QFL CD8SP T cells in chimeras generated using non-transgenic β 2mKO or wild type donors and irradiated β 2mKO or wild type hosts. (B) thymus (tetramer enriched and gated: QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD8 α ⁺) and (C) spleens (tetramer enriched and gated: TCR β^+ QFLtetramer $^+$ V α 3.2 $^+$ CD8 α^+) from the indicated chimeric mice. **D)** Downregulation of CD8 β on QFL CD8SP thymocytes of the indicated chimeric mice. Dotted line represents the average for conventional CD8SP (Gated: CD8 α ⁺CD4-) from unenriched non-transgenic thymi (5.2%). E) CD5 expression on QFL CD8SP thymocytes of the indicated non-transgenic chimeric mice and Qa1^bKO mice. Graph shows gMFI of CD5 expression of QFL thymocytes normalized to the gMFI of conventional CD8SP thymocytes from wild type mice analyzed in the same experiment. F) Quantification of CD44 expression of QFL CD8SP T cells (Gated: TCR β^+ QFLtetramer $^+$ V α 3.2 $^+$ CD8 α^+ CD4 $^-$) from tetramer enriched non-transgenic splenocytes from: WT> β 2mKO (Black dots), β 2mKO>WT (Magenta dots), WT>WT (Teal dots) chimeric spleens and Qa1^bKO(Light blue dots) spleens. Dotted line represents conventional CD8SP (Gated: TCR β^+ CD8 α^+) (22%-26%). Statistical analysis: One way ANOVA comparing sample to Conventional CD8SP. * P value <0.05, ** P value <0.005 *** P value<0.0005. One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.00001

2.5 Methods

Mice

B6 (C57BL/6), B6 Ly5.1 (B6.SJL-*Ptprca Pepcb*/BoyJ) and Rag2-/- (B6(Cg)-Rag2tm1.1Cgn/J) mice were from Jackson Labs. β2M-/- (B6.129-B2mtm1Jae N12) mice were from Taconic. Qa1^bKO mice(Hu et al., 2004) were obtained from the Shastri lab. TCR transgenic mice specific for FL9-Qa1^b (QFL) and H-2K1/H-2D1-/- (K^bD^bKO) mice were generated in our lab (described below). All mice were bred in the UC Berkeley animal facility and all procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC) of the University of California.

Generation of the QFLTg mouse:

The TCR alpha and beta chain sequences from the QFL specific BEko8z hybridoma (Guan et al., 2017; Nagarajan et al., 2012) were cloned and amplified from the genomic DNA of the BEko8z Hybridoma. The TRAV9D-3 TCR alpha chain was cloned with the forward primer (5' AAAACCCGGGCCAAGGCTCAGCCATGCTCCTGG) with an added Xmal cutting site at 5' end of the DNA primer for TRAJ21 (5' sequence and а reverse AAAAGCGGCCGCATACAACATTGGACAAGGATCCAAGCTAAAGAGAACTC) with an added Not1 cutting site at the 5' end of the DNA sequence. The TCR beta chain was cloned with the forward primer (5' AAAACTCGAGCCCGTCTGGAGCCTGATTCCA) with and added Xho1 cutting site at the 5' end of the DNA reverse primer for TRBJ2-7 (5' and а AAAACCGCGGGGGACCCAGGAATTTGGGTGGA) with a SacII cutting site flanking the 5' end of the DNA sequence. The cloned TCR alpha chain was cloned into $pT\alpha$ cassette vector by inserting it between the Xmal and Not1 sites, while the TCR beta chains were cloned into pTß cassette vector in between the Xhol and SacII sites (Kouskoff et al., 1995). The ampicillin resistance gene was removed from pT α and pT β cassette by Earl enzyme digest. The QFL transgenic mice were generated on the B6 background in the Cancer Research Laboratory Gene Targeting Facility at UC Berkeley under standard procedures. The QFL mice were maintained on the B6 background and bred once with B6 Ly5.1 mice to generate (QFLTgxB6 Ly5.1/2) background mice for use in experiments. Founder mice were identified by flow cytometry and PCR genotyping of tail genomic DNA using primers mentioned above.

Generation of $K^b D^b KO$ mice

K^bD^bKO were generated by the Gene Targeting Facility at UC Berkeley using Cas9/CRISPRmediated gene targeting. The H-2K1 gene was targeted using an sgRNA (5' GTACATGGAAGTCGGCTACG 3') that aligned with the sense strand and the H-2D1 gene was targeted using an sgRNA (5' AGATGTACCGGGGCTCCTCG 3') that aligned with the antisense strand. Wild-type C57BL/6J mice were originally obtained from the Jackson Laboratories. Zygotes were obtained from superovulated C57BL/6J females for CRISPR/Cas9 targeting knockout experiment. In brief, CRISPR mix (i.e. Cas9 protein and sgRNAs) was introduced to zygotes by electroporation as previously described (Chen et al., 2016) .The embryos were then transferred to 0.5dpc pseudopregnant females (CD-1, Charles River Laboratories) with oviduct transfer. When the pups were born, tails samples were collected for DNA extraction and genotyping. The resulting founder mice were identified by flow cytometry. The H-2K1 gene had a 2bp deletion (5' TGCCTGGGCTTTCTGTGTCTCCCGCTCCCAATACTCGGGCCCCTCCTGCTCCAATCCACCGC

Preparation of Cell Suspension

Thymi, and spleens were mechanically dissociated in FACS buffer (1% BSA in PBS) or complete RPMI (10% FBS) to generate single-cell suspensions that were then passed through a 70µm filter. Intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) were isolated from the small intestine as previously described (Lefrançois and Lycke, 2001). Briefly, small intestine was cut to 1cm pieces and washed with cold CMF. Tissue pieces were allowed to settle and CMF was poured off. The tissue was then digested with DTE solution for 30 min at 37C in a 50mL conical tube. Tissue pieces were centrifuged at 1,500rpm for 5 min at 4C. Supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 1,500rpm for 5 min at 4C. Lymphocytes were isolated by percoll separation utilizing 40% and 80% percoll (Ruscher et al., 2017). The percoll solution was centrifuged at 2000rpm with no brake for 20 min at room temperature. Lymphocyte layer was then washed with PBS and collected. Splenocytes were then RBC lysed using ACK lysis buffer (0.15M NH₄Cl, 1mM KHCO₃, 0.1mM Na₂EDTA) for 5 minutes at room temperature.

Staining for Flow Cytometry

Thymi, spleens, and IELs were stained in 2.4G2 supernatant for 30 minutes at 4°C with the following antibodies: (BD Biosciences) CD4 (RM4-4), CD8 α (53-6.7), CD5 (53-7.3), PLZF (R17-809), Runx3 (R3-5G4), (Biolegend) TCR β (H57-597), CD90.2 (30-H12), TCR V β 5.1/ 5.2 (MR 9-4), CD8 β (YTS156.7.7), KLRG1 (2F1/KLRG1), PD-1 (29F.1A12), CXCR3 (CXCR3-173), V α 3.2 (RR3-16), V α 2 (B20.1), CD25 (PC61), CD45.2 (104), T-bet (4B10),(Invitrogen) CD8 β (H35-17.2), Ki67 (SoIA15), CD24 (M1/69), B220 (RA3-6B2), integrin α 4 β 7 (DATK32), CD69 (H1.2F3), Qa-2 (69H1-9-9), Eomes (Dan11mag), Nur77 (12.14), (Tonbo) CD44 (IM7), and CD45.1 (A20). Cells were then washed in

PBS and stained in Ghost Dye Violet 510 as described above. For intracellular staining, cells were fixed and permeabilized using the eBioscience FoxP3/ Transcription Factor Staining Buffer Set (ThermoFisher) according to manufacturer's instructions. Biotinylated peptide-MHC monomers were obtained from the NIH Tetramer Facility (Atlanta, GA). Tetramers were assembled by conjugating the biotin-labeled monomers with PE-labeled streptavidin (Agilent, #PJRS27-1) according to NIH Tetramer Facility protocols. Cell numbers were calculated using AccuCheck Counting Beads for count and pipetting accuracy (Life Technologies #PCB100) according to manufacturer's instructions. All antibodies were from BD Biosciences, Biolegend, Invitrogen, or Tonbo Biosciences. Samples were processed using a Fortessa X20 (BD Biosciences) and analyzed using FlowJo software.

CFSE labeling

Cells were labeled with CFSE proliferation dye (ThermoFisher #C34554). PBS and cRPMI were prewarmed in a 37°C water bath. Cells were resuspended in diluted CFSE dye and stained at 37°C for 9 minutes. Cells were first washed with pre-warmed cRPMI added to the labeled cells while vortexing. Cells were then washed again with pre-warmed PBS and resuspended at the desired concentration.

Tetramer Enrichment

Single-cell suspensions of thymi and spleens were generated as described above. Splenocytes were RBC lysed using ACK lysis buffer. Cells were incubated with Datsatinib (Sigma Aldrich, CDS023389-25MG) for 30 minutes at 37°C and then stained with tetramer in 2.4G2 supernatant for 1 hour at room temperature. After staining, cells were washed and incubated with Anti-PE MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotec, #130-048-801) in MACS buffer (0.5% BSA) for 30 minutes at 4°C. Cells were then positively enriched for tetramer+ T cells using a magnetic column (Miltenyi Biotec.) according to manufacturer's instructions and washed before extracellular staining.

Bone Marrow Chimeras

Host mice were depleted of NK cells by I.P. injecting anti-NK1.1 (PK136, Leinco Technologies, #N123) at 100ug/100uL every 24Hrs for two days, for a total of 200ug of depleting antibody. Mice were irradiated in two doses of 600 rads (total of 1,200rads), with a resting period of 16hrs between doses. Mice were maintained on antibiotic water (TMS/ or full name Trimethoprim / Sulfamethoxazole?) 4 weeks following irradiation. Bone marrow was harvested from the femur of donor mice using standard techniques. Red blood cells were lysed using ACK lysis buffer (0.15M NH₄Cl, 1mM KHCO₃, 0.1mM Na₂EDTA) for 5 minutes at room temperature. Cells were depleted of CD4+ T cells by staining with CD4 PE-conjugated antibody (RM4-4) for 20 minutes at 4°C and then with Anti-PE MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotec.) as described above. The labeled cells were washed, resuspended in MACS buffer, and then passed through a magnetic column (Miltenyi Biotec.). Flow-through (CD4-depleted bone marrow cells) was washed, resuspended at (4x10⁶)

cells) in 100uL of PBS and i.v. injected into recipient mice. Bone marrow chimeras were analyzed 8-11 weeks following reconstitution.

Neonatal Chimeras

Donor bone marrow cells were isolated as described above and RBC lysed using ACK lysis buffer (0.15M NH₄Cl, 1mM KHCO₃, 0.1mM Na₂EDTA) for 5 minutes at room temperature. Cells were depleted of CD4+, CD19+, and NK1.1+ cells using a magnetic column as described above. Bone marrow cells were resuspended in PBS and $3x10^{5}$ - $4x10^{5}$ cells were intrahepatically injected into 5-7 day old recipient mice.

Bone Marrow Dendritic Cell Culture In Vitro Stimulation

Bone marrow cells were harvested as described above and RBC lysed using ACK lysis buffer (0.15M NH₄Cl, 1mM KHCO₃, 0.1mM Na₂EDTA) for 5 minutes at room temperature. Bone marrow cells were resuspended in cRPMI and seeded at 5 x 10⁶ cells per milliliter in 24 well plates. Cells were supplemented with GM-CSF (Peprotech, #315-03-20UG) until day 4 and adhering cells were harvested on day 6 using EDTA. 6 x 10⁵ CD11c+MHC-II+ bone marrow cells per milliliter were seeded in 24 well plates. Preselection QFL thymocytes were generated by crossing QFL TCR transgenic mice onto a non-selecting, MHC-I deficient background (β 2M-/-). Thymic single-cell suspensions were generated as described above. Thymocytes were resuspended in cRPMI and seeded at 4 x 10⁶ cells per milliliter.

In Vitro Stimulation with Splenocytes

Single cell-suspensions of splenocytes were generated and RBC lysed as described above. Antigen presenting cells (APCs) were prepared by depleting splenocytes of CD4, CD8, and NK1.1 expressing cells using a magnetic column as described above. APCs were seeded at 4x10⁵ cells per well in a 48 well plates. Responding splenocytes were depleted of CD4, NK1.1, B220, and CD19 expressing cells using a magnetic column as described above. Cells were then CFSE (ThermoFisher #C34554) labeled as described above and seed at 1x10⁵ cells per well.

Thymic Tissue Slice Cultures

Thymic lobes were gently isolated and any connective tissue was removed. Lobes were embedded into 4% agarose with a low melting point (GTG-NuSieve Agarose, Lonza) and sectioned into 400-500mm slices using a vibratome (VT1000S, Leica). Thymic slices were overlaid onto 0.4mm transwell inserts (Corning, Cat. No.: 353090) in 6 well tissue culture plates with enough cRPMI under the insert to reach the slices. (2.5×10^5) thymocytes were overlaid onto each slice and allowed to migrate for 3 hours, after which excess thymocytes were removed by gently washing with PBS. Slices were cultured at 37°C 5% CO₂ until harvested for analysis. For flow cytometry, thymic slices were mechanically dissociated into single-cell suspensions prior to staining.

Chapter 3

Addendum and Future Directions

3.1 Characterization of the alternate MHC 1 ligand and its role in QFL T cell development

Role of alternate MHC 1 ligand in QFL IEL development

In the previous chapter, we showed that QFL T cells are flexible in their requirements for positive selection. The presence or absence of Qa1^b did not impair the development of QFL T cells, but played a role in their phenotype and overall functionality. Importantly, the high self-reactivity and downregulation of CD8 β of QFL thymocytes was dependent on Qa1^b. The loss of agonist selection may alter the QFL T cell lineage commitment to IEL precursors. Interestingly, QFL T cells were identifiable in the IEL compartment of non-transgenic Qa1^bKO mice in comparable numbers to WT mice (Figure 3.1A). QFL IEL T cells were also detectable in QFLTg Qa1^bKO and QFLTg K^bD^bKO mice in similar numbers to QFLTg mice(Figure 3.1B). In our hands, the proportion of CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ QFL IEL T cells was also unaffected by the presence or absence of Qa1^b or K^bD^b(Figure 2.1C). Our collaborators observed conflicting results, where CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ QFL T cells were reduced in non-transgenic Qa1^bKO mice and that QFL CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ a may be affected in absence of Qa1^b.

Influence of the alternate MHC 1 ligand in hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic driven QFL T cell development

The QFL T cells selected by the non Qa1^b alternative MHC 1 ligand display a conventional phenotype. Since conventional T cells are selected by MHC 1a on thymic epithelial cells, we reasoned that phenotypically conventional QFL T cells would follow the same pattern. Therefore, we hypothesized that MHC 1a on non-hematopoietic cells might be required for positive selection of conventional QFL T cells. To investigate the role of the alternative MHC 1 ligand on hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells for QFL T cell selection, we generated reciprocal bone marrow chimeric mice in which Qa1^b was absent and the alternative MHC 1b ligand was present either on hematopoietic cells (QFL transgenic Qa1^bKO donors into β2mKO hosts) or non-hematopoietic cells (QFL transgenic β 2mKO donors into Qa1^bKO hosts) (Fig 3.2A). Interestingly, QFL T cells were recovered in similar numbers in both thymus (Figure 3.2B) and spleen (Figure 3.2C) regardless of MHC 1a expression on hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells. Additionally, QFL T cells did not show extensive CD8 β downregulation (Figure 3.2D) and maintained CD5 levels comparable to conventional CD8SP, confirming the requirement for Qa1^b for these phenotypes. Taken together these data suggest that QFL T cells can be positively selected by an alternate MHC 1 ligand presented by either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells.

Identifying the alternate MHC 1 Ligand

The QFL thymocyte alternative MHC 1 ligand remains to be identified. We hypothesized that a MHC 1a molecule could provide a positive selecting signal to pre-selection QFL thymocytes. This

was tested by co-culturing pre-selection QFL thymocytes with Qa1^bKO BMDCs pre-treated with αK^b , αD^b or $\alpha K^b D^b$ blocking antibodies. Following 24 hours of co-culture, QFL thymocytes were assessed for upregulation of activation markers CD5 and CD69. Surprisingly, pre-treatment with blocking antibodies did not significantly alter the upregulation of activation markers of QFL thymocytes (Figure 3.3). A slight reduction was observed when BMDCs were pre-treated with αK^b , but it was not statistically significant. This result should be interpreted with the caveat of observable background staining and spread of data points in the blocking antibody conditions. This assay may not have the resolution to properly identify subtle differences in activation marker expression. Alternative approaches should be employed to address this question.

Concluding remarks

QFL T cells can develop in absence of their cognate Qa1^b ligand. Albeit, the QFL T cells that are selected on this alternative MHC 1 ligand are less functional compared to their Qa1^b selected counterparts. Interestingly, QFL T cells can populate the IEL compartment regardless of Qa1^b exposure. Additionally, the alternative MHC 1 ligand can be presented by hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells. The QFL population may avoid deletion by possessing a promiscuous TCR. Unfortunately, the degree of cross-reactivity of this TCR remains to be determined. Future studies need to be made to pinpoint the identity of the alternative MHC 1 ligand or ligands. Overall, QFL T cells represent an unconventional T cell population that challenge our understanding of "requirements" for thymocyte positive selection.



Figure 3.1: MHC requirements for QFL T cells in the IEL compartment of the small intestine

A-B) Number of QFL CD8SP T cells in the IEL compartment of the small intestine in **A)** nontransgenic of indicated genotype or **B)** QFLTg crossed to the indicated genotype (Gated: QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺TCR β ⁺CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻). **C)** Graph shows % of CD8 β low out of QFL CD8SP T cells in the IEL compartment of the small intestine from (**Left of the line**) non-transgenic of the indicated genotype or (**right of the line**) QFLTg crossed to the indicated genotypes (Gated: QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺TCR β ⁺CD8 α ⁺CD4⁻). Statistical analysis: One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. For comparisons across displayed samples (shown above dots) # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.0001.



	Chimera	Hematopoietic cells	Non-hematopoietic cells
9: 5	Qa1bKO>Qa1bKO	MHC1a	MHC1a
	Qa1bKO>β2mKO	MHC1a	None
	β 2mKO>Qa1bKO	None	MHC1a
	β 2mKO>β2mKO	None	None









Figure 3.2: Requirement for MHC 1a on Non-hematopoietic cell or hematopoietic cell in QFL selection A) Diagram of experimental design. QFLTg Qa1^bKO or QFLTg β 2mKO mice were used as bone marrow donors to reconstitute irradiated β 2mKO or Qa1^bKO hosts in order to restrict MHC 1a expression to hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells. B-C) Absolute numbers of QFL CD8SP T cells in the indicated chimeric mice in B) Thymus (gated: QFLtetramer⁺CD24⁻CD8a⁺CD4⁻) and C) Spleens (gated: TCR β ⁺QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD8a⁺CD4⁻). D) Downregulation of CD8 β on QFL CD8SP thymocytes of the indicated chimeric mice. Dotted line represents the average for conventional CD8SP (Gated: CD8a⁺CD4⁻) from unenriched non-transgenic thymi (5.2%). E) Graph shows gMFI of CD5 expression of QFL CD8SP thymocytes normalized to the gMFI of conventional CD8SP thymocytes from wild type mice analyzed in the same experiment. Statistical analysis: One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, ### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.0005, #### P value<0.0001. One way ANOVA comparing samples to conventional CD8 T cells (shown below sample name). * P value <0.05, ** P value <0.005 *** P value<0.0005.



Figure 3.3: Identifying alternative QFL T cell ligand by utilizing blocking antibodies

Pre-selection QFL thymocytes (from QFLTg β 2mKO mice) were co-cultured with Bone Marrow Derived Dendritic cells (BMDC) from the indicated mouse strains. Where indicated BMDCs were pre-treated with blocking antibodies specific for K^b(Clone:AF6-88.5), D^b (Clone:KH95) or a mixture of both antibodies at 0.1mg/mL for 30mins at 37C prior to co-culture with pre-selection QFL thymocyte. Dot plots show compiled data of CD5 and CD69 expression on QFL DP thymocytes

(Gated:QFLtetramer⁺V α 3.2⁺CD4⁺CD8 α ⁺) after 24 hours of co-culture, with each dot representing a sample from an individual culture well. Statistical analysis: One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. For comparisons across displayed samples (shown above dots) # P value, <0.05, ## P value <0.005, #### P value<0.00001.



Figure 3.4: Model for QFL T cell development

QFL precursors at the DP(CD4+CD8+) stage audition their semi-invariant TCR (V α 3.2+J α 21+V β 1) by interacting with: **A**) a hematopoietic cell presenting Qa1^b+FL9 providing an agonist selecting signal. The resulting QFL T cell acquires an innate-like phenotype and exits the thymus fully differentiated. These QFL T cells can also migrate to the small intestine and give rise to QFL CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ IELs. **B**) a non-hematopoietic cell presenting Qa1^b+FL9 providing a somewhat strong signal. The resulting QFL T cell shows downregulation of CD8b and mount a limited response to target cells. It is unclear if these QFL T cells migrate to the small intestine. **C**) a non-hematopoietic cell presenting an alternative MHC 1 ligand providing a weak positive selecting signal. The resulting QFL T cell exits the thymus, can mounts a slow response to target cells and migrate to the small intestine. It is unclear if these QFLT cells can give rise to CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ and CD8 $\alpha\beta$ QFL IELs.

3.3 Future Directions

In the previous sections and chapters, I have shown that the thymic context of QFL T cell selection determines the type of QFL T cell that develops (Figure 3.4). The QFL thymocyte can undergo agonist selection by encountering Qa1^b+FL9 in the thymus or positive selection by encountering an unknown alternate MHC 1 ligand. If the QFL thymocyte is agonist selected by a hematopoietic cell, it acquires innate like characteristics and phenotypically resembles an unconventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell. If the QFL thymocyte is selected by a non-hematopoietic cell presenting Qa1^b+FL9, it shows a phenotype that is intermediate between unconventional and conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells. If the QFL thymocyte is positively selected by an alternate MHC 1 ligand presented by a non-hematopoietic cell, it resembles a conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell. The QFL TCR has an affinity for the IEL compartment, but it is unclear if there is a specific or multiple QFL developmental pathways that gives rise to QFL IELs. Additionally, the degree of cross-reactivity of the QFL TCR remains to be determined. Finally, the transcriptional program that commit a QFL T cells to an innate-like or conventional like T cell remains to be understood.

Defining the degree of QFL TCR cross-reactivity

In chapter 2, I showed that the QFL TCR is cross-reactive with a non-Qa1^b MHC 1 molecule. I hypothesize that it is cross reactive with MHC 1a (H2-K/D). I attempted to test this hypothesis utilizing αK and αD blocking antibodies in a BMDC co-culture system. Unfortunately, the results were inconclusive and a better method is needed to test this hypothesis. A pitfall of the previous system was that it relied on almost complete blocking of H2-K/D, which is not guaranteed. Additionally, the QFL TCR could be cross-reactive with multiple MHC molecules and this approach would only block classical MHC 1a. Therefore, an alternate system that assures the expression of a single MHC molecule would have better resolution in defining the QFL alternate ligand or ligands. In collaboration with the Coscoy lab we're generating DC cells lines that are Qa1^b+ K^b and/or D^b deficient. This strategy will limit the potential source of MHC 1 presentation to a single MHC 1a or other MHC 1b molecules. Once these lines are generated, we will co-culture them with pre-selection QFL thymocytes for 24Hrs and by flow cytometry measure upregulation of activation markers CD5 and CD69. I predict that both K^b and D^b can provide a weak stimulation to QFL thymocytes. An interesting outcome could be that QFL thymocytes can be stimulated by MHC 1a and/or multiple MHC 1b molecules. This would imply that the QFL TCR is extremely cross-reactive. This strategy of limiting MHC 1a expression could be applied to test if QFL T cells can be stimulated by differing haplotypes. The QFL T cells have been identified in B6 mice which are H2^b, but it is possible that H2^{k,q,d} bearing mice could harbor QFL T cells, especially since Qa1^b is non-polymorphic. In fact, 6C5 T cells which were discovered in B6 mice and use the same V α 3.2 as QFL T cells, were shown to be cross reactive with H2^q (Reed-Loisel et al., 2005). This extensive cross-reactivity maybe a general property of V α 3.2 and/or MHC-E restricted T cells.

Dissecting the source of QFL specific IELs

In the previous chapters we found that QFLT cells can be isolated in the small intestine regardless of Qa1^b expression. This was an unexpected observation considering that QFL T cells require Qa1^b for agonist selection and IEL precursors are highly self-reactive (Kurd et al., 2021; Yamagata et al., 2004). Positive selected QFL T cells were shown to functionally limited and perhaps not fully differentiated compared to agonist selected QFL T cells(Figure 2.4). It would be reasonable to think that positive selected QFLT cells require an additional maturation event in order to gain their effector phenotype. Furthermore, it is unclear if QFL IELs migrate directly from the thymus as committed IEL precursors or whether they require a peripheral differentiation event before migrating to the small intestine. I hypothesize that agonist selected QFL IEL precursors migrate directly from the thymus to the small intestine, while positive selected QFL T cells migrate to a peripheral organ, undergo a differentiation event, and then migrate to the small intestine. In order to test this hypothesis, neonatal Rag2KO mice will be injected with CD4 depleted QFLTg or QFLTg Qa1^bKO thymocytes. I predict that QFLTg thymocytes will populate both spleen and small intestine, while QFLTg Qa1^bKO thymocytes will only populate the spleen. In parallel, I will transfer CD4 and B cell depleted QFLTg or QFLTg Qa1^bKO splenocytes to neonatal Rag2KO mice. I predict that both splenocyte populations will populate the spleen and small intestine of the host mice. If my hypothesis is right then QFL T cells will have a distinct pathways that lead to migration to the small intestine.

Transcriptional difference between agonist and positive selected QFL thymocytes

The QFL T cells undergo agonist selection in presence of Qa1^b, but can be positively selected by an alternative MHC 1 molecule. Furthermore, the agonist selected QFL T cells upregulate PLZF, rapidly proliferate and respond to target cells more efficiently than positive selected QFL T cells. Both of these populations may co-exist in the same thymic environment and possess the same TCR. Thus QFL T cells could provide an excellent model to dissect the transcriptional differences between and agonist selected and a positively selected T cell. I propose to utilize single cell RNA-seq of QFLTg thymocytes and QFLTg Qa1^bKO thymocytes. Comparison of these samples will confirm the coexistence of agonist and positive selected QFL T cells in the QFLTg thymus. The resolution of single cell RNA-seq can reveal subtle changes in transcripts that determine the lineage differentiation of an agonist selected T cell. Furthermore, it might reveal novel mechanisms that allow QFL T cells to avoid negative selection, considering their cross-reactivity. These samples may also reveal the transcriptional differences between an innate-like thymocyte and conventional thymocyte, utilizing a single TCR clone. References

Adams, E.J., and Luoma, A.M. (2013). The Adaptable Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Fold: Structure and Function of Nonclassical and MHC Class I–Like Molecules.

Aldrich, C.J., DeCloux, A., Woods, A.S., Cotter, R.J., Soloski, M.J., and Forman, J. (1994). Identification of a tap-dependent leader peptide recognized by alloreactive T cells specific for a class Ib antigen. Cell *79*, 649–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90550-9.

Anderson, C.K., Reilly, E.C., Lee, A.Y., and Brossay, L. (2019). Qa-1-Restricted CD8 + T Cells Can Compensate for the Absence of Conventional T Cells during Viral Infection. Cell Reports *27*, 537-548.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.03.059.

Anderson, M.S., Venanzi, E.S., Klein, L., Chen, Z., Berzins, S.P., Turley, S.J., von Boehmer, H., Bronson, R., Dierich, A., Benoist, C., et al. (2002). Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. Science (1979) *298*, 1395–1401. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1075958.

Arnaiz, A., Fabio, V., Trujillo, S., Juarez, I., Rodríguez, C., Palacio, J., Christian, G., Yuste, V., Molina, M., Eduardo, A., et al. (2022). Evolution and molecular interactions of major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-G, - E and - F genes. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-022-04491-z.

Azzam, H.S., DeJarnette, J.B., Huang, K., Emmons, R., Park, C.-S., Sommers, C.L., El-Khoury, D., Shores, E.W., and Love, P.E. (2001). Fine Tuning of TCR Signaling by CD5. The Journal of Immunology *166*, 5464–5472. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.9.5464.

Bediako, Y., Bian, Y., Zhang, H., Cho, H., Stein, P.L., and Wang, C.-R. (2012). SAP Is Required for the Development of Innate Phenotype in H2-M3–Restricted CD8 + T Cells . The Journal of Immunology *189*, 4787–4796. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1200579.

Bendelac, A. (1995). Positive Selection of Mouse NK1+ T Cells by CD1-expressing Cortical Thymocytes. J Exp Med *182*, 2091–2096. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.182.6.2091.

Benlagha, K., Wei, D.G., Veiga, J., Teyton, L., and Bendelac, A. (2005). Characterization of the early stages of thymic NKT cell development. The Journal of Experimental Medicine *202*, 485–492. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20050456.

Berg, R.E., Princiotta, M.F., Irion, S., Moticka, J.A., Dahl, K.R., and Staerz, U.D. (1999). Positive selection of an H2-M3 restricted T cell receptor. Immunity *11*, 33–43.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80079-5.

Bezbradica, J.S., Hill, T., Stanic, A.K., Kaer, L. van, Joyce, S., van Kaer, L., and Joyce, S. (2005). Commitment toward the natural T (iNKT) cell lineage occurs at the CD4+8+ stage of thymic ontogeny. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 5114–5119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0408449102. Bian, Y., Shang, S., Siddiqui, S., Zhao, J., Joosten, S.A., Ottenhoff, T.H.M., Cantor, H., and Wang, C.R. (2017). MHC Ib molecule Qa-1 presents Mycobacterium tuberculosis peptide antigens to CD8+T cells and contributes to protection against infection. PLoS Pathogens *13*, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006384.

Boudinot, P., Mondot, S., Jouneau, L., Teyton, L., Lefranc, M.-P., and Lantz, O. (2016). Restricting nonclassical MHC genes coevolve with TRAV genes used by innate-like T cells in mammals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *113*, E2983–E2992.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1600674113.

le Bourhis, L., Guerri, L., Dusseaux, M., Martin, E., Soudais, C., and Lantz, O. (2011). Mucosalassociated invariant T cells: Unconventional development and function. Trends in Immunology *32*, 212–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2011.02.005. Braud, V., Jones, E.Y., and McMichael, A. (1997). The human major histocompatibility complex class Ib molecule HLA-E binds signal sequence-derived peptides with primary anchor residues at positions 2 and 9. European Journal of Immunology *27*, 1164–1169.

https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830270517.

Braud, V.M., Allan, D.S.J., O'Callaghan, C.A., Soderstrom, K., D'Andrea, A., Ogg, G.S., Lazetic, S., Young, N.T., Bell, J.I., Phillips, J.H., et al. (1998). HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. Nature *391*, 795–799. https://doi.org/10.1038/35869.

Brutkiewicz, R.R. (2006). CD1d Ligands: The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly. The Journal of Immunology *177*, 769–775. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.2.769.

Camilli, G., Cassotta, A., Battella, S., Palmieri, G., Santoni, A., Paladini, F., Fiorillo, M.T., and Sorrentino, R. (2016). Regulation and trafficking of the HLA-E molecules during monocyte-macrophage differentiation. Journal of Leukocyte Biology *99*, 121–130.

https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1A0415-172R.

Chandra, S., and Kronenberg, M. (2015). Activation and Function of iNKT and MAIT Cells. In Advances in Immunology, (Elsevier Inc.), pp. 145–201.

Chen, S., Lee, B., Lee, A.Y.F., Modzelewski, A.J., and He, L. (2016). Highly efficient mouse genome editing by CRISPR ribonucleoprotein electroporation of zygotes. Journal of Biological Chemistry *291*, 14457–14467. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.733154.

Chen, S., Cai, C., Li, Z., Liu, G., Wang, Y., Blonska, M., Li, D., Du, J., Lin, X., Yang, M., et al. (2017). Dissection of SAP-dependent and SAP-independent SLAM family signaling in NKT cell development and humoral immunity. The Journal of Experimental Medicine jem.20161312. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20161312.

Cheroutre, H., Lambolez, F., and Mucida, D. (2011). The light and dark sides of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. Nature Reviews Immunology *11*, 445–456. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3007.

Chiu, N.M., Wang, B., Kerksiek, K.M., Kurlander, R., Pamer, E.G., and Wang, C.R. (1999). The selection of M3-restricted T cells is dependent on M3 expression and presentation of N-formylated peptides in the thymus. Journal of Experimental Medicine *190*, 1869–1878. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.190.12.1869.

Cho, H., Bediako, Y., Xu, H., Choi, H.-J., and Wang, C.-R. (2011). Positive selecting cell type determines the phenotype of MHC class Ib-restricted CD8+ T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *108*, 13241–13246. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105118108.

Choi, J.Y., Eskandari, S.K., Cai, S., Sulkaj, I., Assaker, J.P., Allos, H., AlHaddad, J., Muhsin, S.A., Alhussain, E., Mansouri, A., et al. (2020). Regulatory CD8 T cells that recognize Qa-1 expressed by CD4 T-helper cells inhibit rejection of heart allografts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *117*, 6042– 6046. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1918950117.

Cifaldi, L., Romania, P., Lorenzi, S., Locatelli, F., and Fruci, D. (2012). Role of endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidases in health and disease: From infection to cancer. International Journal of Molecular Sciences *13*, 8338–8352. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms13078338.

Colmone, A., and Wang, C.R. (2006). H2-M3-restricted T cell response to infection. Microbes and Infection *8*, 2277–2283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2006.03.020.

Cosway, E.J., James, K.D., Lucas, B., Anderson, G., and Anderson, G. (2020). The thymus medulla and its control of $\alpha\beta$ T cell development.

Crosby, C.M., and Kronenberg, M. (2018). Tissue-specific functions of invariant natural killer T cells. Nature Reviews Immunology *18*, 559–574. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-018-0034-2. Das, G., Gould, D.S., Augustine, M.M., Fragoso, G., Sciutto, E., Stroynowski, I., van Kaer, L., Schust, D.J., Ploegh, H., and Janeway, C.A. (2000). Qa-2-dependent selection of CD8 α/α T cell receptor α/β + cells in murine intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. Journal of Experimental Medicine *192*, 1521–1527. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.192.10.1521.

Davey, B.G.M., Schober, S.L., Endrizzi, B.T., Dutcher, A.K., Jameson, S.C., and Hogquist, K.A. (1998). T Cell Receptor Stimulation Than Mature T Cells. *188*. .

Davis, M.M., and Bjorkman, P.J. (1988). The T cell receptor genes and T-cell recognition. Nature *334*, 395–402.

Doorduijn, E.M., Sluijter, M., Querido, B.J., Oliveira, C.C., Achour, A., Ossendorp, F., Van Der Burg, S.H., and Van Hall, T. (2016). TAP-independent self-peptides enhance T cell recognition of immune-escaped tumors. Journal of Clinical Investigation *126*, 784–794.

https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI83671.

Doorduijn, E.M., Sluijter, M., Querido, B.J., Seidel, U.J.E., Oliveira, C.C., van der Burg, S.H., and van Hall, T. (2018). T Cells Engaging the Conserved MHC Class Ib Molecule Qa-1b with TAP-Independent Peptides Are Semi-Invariant Lymphocytes. Frontiers in Immunology *9*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00060.

Drobek, A., Moudra, A., Mueller, D., Huranova, M., Horkova, V., Pribikova, M., Ivanek, R., Oberle, S., Zehn, D., McCoy, K.D., et al. (2018). Strong homeostatic TCR signals induce formation of self-tolerant virtual memory CD8 T cells. The EMBO Journal *37*, 1–17.

https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201798518.

Fernandez Vina, M.A., Hollenbach, J.A., Lyke, K.E., Sztein, M.B., Maiers, M., Klitz, W., Cano, P., Mack, S., Single, R., Brautbar, C., et al. (2012). Tracking human migrations by the analysis of the distribution of HLA alleles, lineages and haplotypes in closed and open populations. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences *367*, 820–829. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0320.

Fulton, R.B., Hamilton, S.E., Xing, Y., Best, J.A., Goldrath, A.W., Hogquist, K.A., and Jameson, S.C. (2015). The TCR's sensitivity to self peptide-MHC dictates the ability of naive CD8 + T cells to respond to foreign antigens. Nature Immunology *16*, 107–117.

https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3043.

Gapin, L., Cheroutre, H., and Kronenberg, M. (1999). Cutting edge: TCR alpha beta+ CD8 alpha alpha+ T cells are found in intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes of mice that lack classical MHC class I molecules. J Immunol *163*, 4100–4104.

Godfrey, D.I., Rô Me Le Nours, J., Andrews, D.M., Uldrich, A.P., Rossjohn, J., le Nours, J., Andrews, D.M., Uldrich, A.P., and Rossjohn, J. (2018). Unconventional T Cell Targets for Cancer Immunotherapy. Immunity *48*, 453–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.009. Godfrey, D.I., Koay, H.-F., McCluskey, J., and Gherardin, N.A. (2019). The biology and functional importance of MAIT cells. Nature Immunology https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0444-8. Golec, D.P., Hoeppli, R.E., Henao Caviedes, L.M., McCann, J., Levings, M.K., Baldwin, T.A., Caviedes, L.M.H., McCann, J., Levings, M.K., Baldwin, T.A., et al. (2017). Thymic progenitors of TCRαβ+ CD8αα intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes require RasGRP1 for development. J Exp Med *214*, 2421–2435. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20170844. Grandjean, C.L., Sumaria, N., Martin, S., and Pennington, D.J. (2017). Increased TCR signal strength in DN thymocytes promotes development of gut TCR $\alpha\beta$ (+)CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ (+) intraepithelial lymphocytes. Scientific Reports 7, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09368-x. Griewank, K., Borowski, C., Rietdijk, S., Wang, N., Julien, A., Wei, D.G., Mamchak, A.A., Terhorst, C., and Bendelac, A. (2007). Homotypic Interactions Mediated by Slamf1 and Slamf6 Receptors Control NKT Cell Lineage Development. Immunity *27*, 751–762.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.020.

Grotzke, J.E., Harriff, M.J., Siler, A.C., Nolt, D., Delepine, J., Lewinsohn, D.A., and Lewinsohn, D.M. (2009). The Mycobacterium tuberculosis Phagosome Is a HLA-I Processing Competent Organelle. PLoS Pathogens *5*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000374.

Guan, J., Yang, S.J., Gonzalez, F., Yin, Y., and Shastri, N. (2017). Antigen Processing in the Endoplasmic Reticulum Is Monitored by Semi-Invariant αβ TCRs Specific for a Conserved Peptide-Qa-1b MHC Class Ib Ligand. J Immunol *198*, 2017–2027.

https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1600764.

van Hall, T., Oliveira, C.C., Joosten, S.A., and Ottenhoff, T.H.M. (2010). The other Janus face of Qa-1 and HLA-E: Diverse peptide repertoires in times of stress. Microbes and Infection *12*, 910–918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2010.07.011.

Hammer, G.E., Gonzalez, F., James, E., Nolla, H., and Shastri, N. (2007). In the absence of aminopeptidase ERAAP, MHC class I molecules present many unstable and highly immunogenic peptides. Nature Immunology *8*, 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1409.

Hansen, S.G., Wu, H.L., Burwitz, B.J., Hughes, C.M., Hammond, K.B., Ventura, A.B., Reed, J.S., Gilbride, R.M., Ainslie, E., Morrow, D.W., et al. (2016). Broadly targeted CD8+ T cell responses restricted by major histocompatibility complex E. Science (1979) *351*, 714–720. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac9475.

Harriff, M.J., Wolfe, L.M., Swarbrick, G., Null, M., Cansler, M.E., Canfield, E.T., Vogt, T., Toren, K.G., Li, W., Jackson, M., et al. (2017). HLA-E Presents Glycopeptides from the Mycobacterium tuberculosis Protein MPT32 to Human CD8+ T cells. Scientific Reports *7*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04894-0.

Hislop, A.D., and Taylor, G.S. (2015). T-cell responses to EBV.

Hogquist, K., and Georgiev, H. (2020). Recent advances in iNKT cell development. F1000Res *9*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.21378.1.

Hogquist, K.A., Jameson, S.C., Heath, W.R., Howard, J.L., Bevan, M.J., and Carbone, F.R. (1994). T cell receptor antagonist peptides induce positive selection. Cell *76*, 17–27.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90169-4.

Hu, D., Ikizawa, K., Lu, L., Sanchirico, M.E., Shinohara, M.L., and Cantor, H. (2004). Analysis of regulatory CD8 T cells in Qa-1-deficient mice. Nature Immunology *5*, 516–523. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1063.

Jameson, S.C., and Masopust, D. (2018). Understanding Subset Diversity in T Cell Memory. Immunity *48*, 214–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.02.010.

Jhunjhunwala, S., Hammer, C., and Delamarre, L. (2021). Antigen presentation in cancer: insights into tumour immunogenicity and immune evasion. Nature Reviews Cancer *21*, 298–312. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-021-00339-z.

Jia, X., Zhao, Q., and Xiong, Y. (2015). HIV suppression by host restriction factors and viral immune evasion. Current Opinion in Structural Biology *31*, 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2015.04.004.

Jørgensen, P.B., Livbjerg, A.H., Hansen, H.J., Petersen, T., and Höllsberg, P. (2012). Epstein-Barr virus Peptide Presented by HLA-E is Predominantly Recognized by CD8bright Cells in multiple Sclerosis Patients. PLoS ONE 7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046120.

Joseph, C., Klibi, J., Amable, L., Comba, L., Cascioferro, A., Delord, M., Parietti, V., Lenoir, C., Latour, S., Lucas, B., et al. (2019). TCR density in early iNKT cell precursors regulates agonist selection and subset differentiation in mice. European Journal of Immunology *49*, 894–910. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201848010.

Kambayashi, T., Kraft-Leavy, J.R., Dauner, J.G., Sullivan, B.A., Laur, O., and Jensen, P.E. (2004). The Nonclassical MHC Class I Molecule Qa-1 Forms Unstable Peptide Complexes. The Journal of Immunology *172*, 1661–1669. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.172.3.1661.

Kjer-Nielsen, L., Patel, O., Corbett, A.J., le Nours, J., Meehan, B., Liu, L., Bhati, M., Chen, Z., Kostenko, L., Reantragoon, R., et al. (2012). MR1 presents microbial vitamin B metabolites to MAIT cells. Nature *491*, 717–723. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11605.

Klose, C.S.N., Blatz, K., d'Hargues, Y., Hernandez, P.P., Kofoed-Nielsen, M., Ripka, J.F., Ebert, K., Arnold, S.J., Diefenbach, A., Palmer, E., et al. (2014). The transcription factor T-bet is induced by IL-15 and thymic agonist selection and controls CD8αα+ intraepithelial lymphocyte development. Immunity *41*, 230–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.018. Koay, H.F., Gherardin, N.A., Enders, A., Loh, L., Mackay, L.K., Almeida, C.F., Russ, B.E., Nold-Petry, C.A., Nold, M.F., Bedoui, S., et al. (2016). A three-stage intrathymic development pathway for the mucosal-associated invariant T cell lineage. Nature Immunology *17*, 1300– 1311. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3565.

Kondo, K., Takada, K., and Takahama, Y. (2017). Antigen processing and presentation in the thymus: implications for T cell repertoire selection. Current Opinion in Immunology *46*, 53–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2017.03.014.

Kotsias, F., Cebrian, I., and Alloatti, A. (2019). Antigen processing and presentation. International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology *348*, 69–121.

https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2019.07.005.

Kouskoff, V., Signorelli, K., Benoist, C., and Mathis, D. (1995). Cassette vectors directing expression of T cell receptor genes in transgenic mice. J.Immunol.Methods *180*, 273–280. . Kreslavsky, T., Kim, H.J., Koralov, S.B., Ghitza, D., Buch, T., Cantor, H., Rajewsky, K., and Von Boehmer, H. (2013). Negative selection, not receptor editing, is a physiological response of autoreactive thymocytes. Journal of Experimental Medicine *210*, 1911–1918. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20130876.

Kumar, A., Hill, T.M., Gordy, L.E., Suryadevara, N., Wu, L., Flyak, A.I., Bezbradica, J.S., van Kaer, L., and Joyce, S. (2020). Nur77 controls tolerance induction, terminal differentiation, and effector functions in semi-invariant natural killer T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *117*, 17156–17165. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2001665117.

Kurd, N., and Robey, E.A. (2016). T-cell selection in the thymus: A spatial and temporal perspective. Immunological Reviews *271*, 114–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12398.

Kurd, N.S., Hoover, A., Yoon, J., Weist, B.M., Lutes, L., Chan, S.W., and Robey, E.A. (2021). Factors that influence the thymic selection of CD8αα intraepithelial lymphocytes. Mucosal Immunology *14*, 68–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41385-020-0295-5.

Kwesi-Maliepaard, E.M., Jacobs, H., and van Leeuwen, F. (2021). Signals for antigenindependent differentiation of memory CD8+ T cells. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences *78*, 6395–6408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-021-03912-9.

Kwon, D., and Lee, Y.J. (2017). Lineage Differentiation Program of Invariant Natural Killer T Cells. Immune Network *17*, 365. https://doi.org/10.4110/in.2017.17.6.365.

Lee, J.Y., Hamilton, S.E., Akue, A.D., Hogquist, K.A., and Jameson, S.C. (2013). Virtual memory CD8 T cells display unique functional properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *110*, 13498–13503. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1307572110.

Lee, M., Lee, E., Han, S.K., Choi, Y.H., Kwon, D. il, Choi, H., Lee, K., Park, E.S., Rha, M.S., Joo, D.J., et al. (2020). Single-cell RNA sequencing identifies shared differentiation paths of mouse thymic innate T cells. Nature Communications *11*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18155-8. Lee, S.T., Georgiev, H., Breed, E.R., Ruscher, R., and Hogquist, K.A. (2021). MHC Class I on murine hematopoietic APC selects Type A IEL precursors in the thymus. European Journal of Immunology *51*, 1080–1088. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.202048996.

Legoux, F., Salou, M., and Lantz, O. (2017). Unconventional or Preset αβ T Cells: Evolutionarily Conserved Tissue-Resident T Cells Recognizing Nonpeptidic Ligands. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology *33*, 511–535. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100616-060725. Legoux, F., Bellet, D., Daviaud, C., el Morr, Y., Darbois, A., Niort, K., Procopio, E., Salou, M., Gilet, J., Ryffel, B., et al. (2019). Microbial metabolites control the thymic development of mucosalassociated invariant T cells. Science (1979) *366*, 494–499.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw2719.

Li, X., and von Boehmer, H. (2011). Notch Signaling in T-Cell Development and T-ALL. ISRN Hematology *2011*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.5402/2011/921706.

Lin, Q., Kuypers, M., Philpott, D.J., and Mallevaey, T. (2020). The dialogue between unconventional T cells and the microbiota. Mucosal Immunology *13*, 867–876. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41385-020-0326-2.

Lindahl, K.F., Byers, D.E., Dabhi, V.M., Hovik, R., Jones, E.P., Smith, G.P., Wang, C.R., Xiao, H., and Yoshino, M. (1997). H2-M3, a full-service class Ib histocompatibility antigen. Annu Rev Immunol *15*, 851–879. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.851.

Linehan, J.L., Harrison, O.J., Han, S.J., Byrd, A.L., Vujkovic-Cvijin, I., Villarino, A. v., Sen, S.K., Shaik, J., Smelkinson, M., Tamoutounour, S., et al. (2018). Non-classical Immunity Controls Microbiota Impact on Skin Immunity and Tissue Repair. Cell *172*, 784-796.e18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.12.033.

Liu, J., Chen, D., Nie, G.D., and Dai, Z. (2015). CD8+CD122+T-cells: A newly emerging regulator with central memory cell phenotypes. Frontiers in Immunology *6*, 6–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00494.

Lo, W.-F., Ong, H., Metcalf, E.S., and Soloski, M.J. (1999). T Cell Responses to Gram-Negative Intracellular Bacterial Pathogens: A Role for CD8+ T cells in Immunity to Salmonella Infection and the Involvement of MHC Class Ib Molecules. The Journal of Immunology *162*, 5398–5406.
Lo, W.F., Woods, a S., DeCloux, a, Cotter, R.J., Metcalf, E.S., and Soloski, M.J. (2000). Molecular mimicry mediated by MHC class Ib molecules after infection with gram-negative pathogens. Nat Med *6*, 215–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/72329.

Lu, Y., Zhong, M.C., Qian, J., Calderon, V., Cruz Tleugabulova, M., Mallevaey, T., and Veillette, A. (2019). SLAM receptors foster iNKT cell development by reducing TCR signal strength after positive selection. Nature Immunology *20*, 447–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0334-0.

Lucas, B., Štefanová, I., Yasutomo, K., Dautigny, N., and Germain, R.N. (1999). Divergent changes in the sensitivity of maturing T cells to structurally related ligands underlies formation of a useful T cell repertoire. Immunity *10*, 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80036-9.

Mandl, J.N., Monteiro, J.P., Vrisekoop, N., and Germain, R.N. (2013). T Cell-Positive Selection Uses Self-Ligand Binding Strength to Optimize Repertoire Recognition of Foreign Antigens. Immunity *38*, 263–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.09.011.

Mayans, S., Stepniak, D., Palida, S.F., Larange, A., Dreux, J., Arlian, B.M., Shinnakasu, R., Kronenberg, M., Cheroutre, H., and Lambolez, F. (2014). αβT cell receptors expressed by CD4-CD8αβ- intraepithelial T cells drive their fate into a unique lineage with unusual MHC reactivities. Immunity *41*, 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.07.010. McDonald, B.D., Bunker, J.J., Ishizuka, I.E., Jabri, B., and Bendelac, A. (2014). Elevated T cell

receptor signaling identifies a thymic precursor to the TCR $\alpha\beta$ +CD4-CD8 β - intraepithelial lymphocyte lineage. Immunity *41*, 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.07.008. McDonald, B.D., Bunker, J.J., Erickson, S.A., Oh-Hora, M., and Bendelac, A. (2015). Crossreactive $\alpha\beta$ T Cell Receptors Are the Predominant Targets of Thymocyte Negative Selection. Immunity *43*, 859–869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.009.

McDonald, B.D., Jabri, B., and Bendelac, A. (2018). Diverse developmental pathways of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. Nature Reviews Immunology *18*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-018-0013-7.

McMichael, A.J., and Picker, L.J. (2017). Unusual antigen presentation offers new insight into HIV vaccine design. Curr Opin Immunol *46*, 75–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2017.04.009. Merkenschlager, M., Graf, D., Lovatt, M., Bommhardt, U., Zamoyska, R., and Fisher, A.G. (1997). How many thymocytes audition for selection? Journal of Experimental Medicine *186*, 1149–1158. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.186.7.1149.

Murga, C., and Barber, D.F. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of pre-T cell receptor-induced survival. Journal of Biological Chemistry *277*, 39156–39162.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M203553200.

Nagarajan, N.A., Gonzalez, F., and Shastri, N. (2012). Nonclassical MHC class Ib-restricted cytotoxic T cells monitor antigen processing in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature Immunology *13*, 579–586. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2282.

Nishioka, Y., Masuda, S., Tomaru, U., and Ishizu, A. (2018). CD1d-restricted type II NKT cells reactive with endogenous hydrophobic peptides. Frontiers in Immunology *9*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00548.

Obar, J.J., Khanna, K.M., and Lefrançois, L. (2008). Endogenous Naive CD8+ T Cell Precursor Frequency Regulates Primary and Memory Responses to Infection. Immunity *28*, 859–869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2008.04.010. Oh-Hora, M., Komatsu, N., Pishyareh, M., Feske, S., Hori, S., Taniguchi, M., Rao, A., and Takayanagi, H. (2013). Agonist-Selected T Cell Development Requires Strong T Cell Receptor Signaling and Store-Operated Calcium Entry. Immunity *38*, 881–895.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.008.

Ohtsuka, M., Inoko, H., Kulski, J.K., and Yoshimura, S. (2008). Major histocompatibility complex (Mhc) class Ib gene duplications, organization and expression patterns in mouse strain C57BL/6. BMC Genomics *9*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-9-178.

Painter, G.F., Burn, O.K., and Hermans, I.F. (2021). Using agonists for iNKT cells in cancer therapy. Molecular Immunology *130*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2020.12.010. Park, S.H., Guy-Grand, D., Lemonnier, F.A., Wang, C.R., Bendelac, A., and Jabri, B. (1999). Selection and expansion of CD8 α/α + T cell receptor α/β + intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes in the absence of both classical major histocompatibility complex class I and nonclassical CD1 molecules. Journal of Experimental Medicine *190*, 885–890.

https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.190.6.885.

Pasman, L., and Kasper, D.L. (2017). Building conventions for unconventional lymphocytes. Immunological Reviews *279*, 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12576.

Pellicci, D.G., Koay, H.F., and Berzins, S.P. (2020). Thymic development of unconventional T cells: how NKT cells, MAIT cells and γδ T cells emerge. Nature Reviews Immunology https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-020-0345-y.

Pobezinsky, L.A., Angelov, G.S., Tai, X., Jeurling, S., van Laethem, F., Feigenbaum, L., Park, J., and Singer, A. (2012). Clonal deletion and the fate of autoreactive thymocytes that survive negative selection. Nature Immunology *13*, 569–578. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2292.

Prasad, M., Wojciech, L., Brzostek, J., Hu, J., Chua, Y.L., Tung, D.W.H., Yap, J., Rybakin, V., and Gascoigne, N.R.J. (2021). Expansion of an Unusual Virtual Memory CD8+ Subpopulation Bearing Vα3.2 TCR in Themis-Deficient Mice. Frontiers in Immunology *12*, 644483.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.644483.

Reed-Loisel, L.M., Sullivan, B.A., Laur, O., and Jensen, P.E. (2005). An MHC class Ib-restricted TCR that cross-reacts with an MHC class Ia molecule. Journal of Immunology *174*, 7746–7752. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.

Ristori, G., Montesperelli, C., Fiorillo, M.T., Battistini, L., Chersi, A., Sorrentino, R., Borsellino, G., Perna, A., Tramonti, D., Cannoni, S., et al. (2001). T cell response to N-formylated peptides in humans. European Journal of Immunology *31*, 2762–2770. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141(200109)31:9<2762::AID-IMMU2762>3.0.CO;2-X.

Robinson, P.J., Travers, P.J., Stackpoole, A., Flaherty, L., and Djaballah, H. (1998). Maturation of Qa-1b class I molecules requires beta 2-microglobulin but is TAP independent. Journal of Immunology *160*, 3217–3224.

Rodgers, J.R., and Cook, R.G. (2005). MHC class IB molecules bridge innate and acquired immunity. Nature Reviews Immunology *5*, 459–471. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1635. Ruibal, P., Franken, K.L.M.C., van Meijgaarden, K.E., van Loon, J.J.F., van der Steen, D., Heemskerk, M.H.M., Ottenhoff, T.H.M., and Joosten, S.A. (2020). Peptide Binding to HLA-E Molecules in Humans, Nonhuman Primates, and Mice Reveals Unique Binding Peptides but Remarkably Conserved Anchor Residues. The Journal of Immunology *205*, 2861–2872. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.2000810.

Ruscher, R., Kummer, R.L., Lee, Y.J., Jameson, S.C., and Hogquist, K.A. (2017). CD8αα intraepithelial lymphocytes arise from two main thymic precursors. Nature Immunology *18*, 771–779. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3751.

Salio, M., Silk, J.D., Yvonne Jones, E., and Cerundolo, V. (2014). Biology of CD1- and MR1-Restricted T Cells. Annual Review of Immunology *32*, 323–366.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120243.

Savage, A.K., Constantinides, M.G., Han, J., Picard, D., Martin, E., Li, B., Lantz, O., and Bendelac, A. (2008). The Transcription Factor PLZF Directs the Effector Program of the NKT Cell Lineage. Immunity *29*, 391–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2008.07.011.

Schulte, D., Vogel, M., Langhans, B., Krämer, B., Körner, C., Nischalke, H.D., Steinberg, V., Michalk, M., Berg, T., Rockstroh, J.K., et al. (2009). The HLA-E(R)/HLA-E(R) genotype affects the natural course of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection and is associated with HLA-E-restricted recognition of an HCV-derived peptide by interferon-gamma-secreting human CD8(+) T cells. J Infect Dis *200*, 1397–1401. https://doi.org/10.1086/605889.

Seach, N., Guerri, L., le Bourhis, L., Mburu, Y., Cui, Y., Bessoles, S., Soudais, C., and Lantz, O. (2013). Double Positive Thymocytes Select Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells. The Journal of Immunology *191*, 6002–6009. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1301212.

Seaman, M.S., Perarnau, B., Lindahl, K.F., Lemonnier, F.A., and Forman, J. (1999). Response to Listeria monocytogenes in mice lacking MHC class Ia molecules. Journal of Immunology *162*, 5429–5436.

Shang, S., Siddiqui, S., Bian, Y., Zhao, J., and Wang, C.R. (2016). Nonclassical MHC lb-restricted CD8+ T Cells Recognize Mycobacterium tuberculosis-Derived Protein Antigens and Contribute to Protection Against Infection. PLoS Pathogens *12*, 1–22.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005688.

Sharpe, H.R., Bowyer, G., Brackenridge, S., and Lambe, T. (2019). HLA-E: exploiting pathogenhost interactions for vaccine development. Clinical and Experimental Immunology *196*, 167– 177. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.13292.

Sim, B.C., Lo, D., and Gascoigne, N.R.J. (1998). Preferential expression of TCR Vα regions in CD4/CD8 subsets: Class discrimination or co-receptor recognition? Immunology Today *19*, 276–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5699(98)01257-2.

Smith, T.R.F., Tang, X., Maricic, I., Garcia, Z., Fanchiang, S., and Kumar, V. (2009). Dendritic cells use endocytic pathway for cross-priming class Ib MHC-restricted

CD8alphaalpha+TCRalphabeta+ T cells with regulatory properties. J Immunol *182*, 6959–6968. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900316.

Souza, M.P.D., Adams, E., Altman, J.D., Birnbaum, M.E., Id, C.B., Id, G.C., Chien, Y., Conley, A., Hassan, N., Gondre, T., et al. (2019). Casting a wider net : Immunosurveillance by nonclassical MHC molecules. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007567.

Stritesky, G.L., Jameson, S.C., and Hogquist, K.A. (2012). Selection of self-reactive T cells in the thymus. Annual Review of Immunology *30*, 95–114. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075035.

Sullivan, B.A., Kraj, P., Weber, D.A., Ignatowicz, L., and Jensen, P.E. (2002). Positive selection of a Qa-1-restricted T cell receptor with specificity for insulin. Immunity *17*, 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1074-7613(02)00343-6. Sullivan, L.C., Clements, C.S., Rossjohn, J., and Brooks, A.G. (2008). The major histocompatibility complex class Ib molecule HLA-E at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity. Tissue Antigens *72*, 415–424. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0039.2008.01138.x.

Thiele, D., Gruta, N.L. la, and Nguyen, A. (2020). Hiding in Plain Sight : Virtually Unrecognizable Memory Phenotype CD8 + T cells.

Tompkins, S.M., Kraft, J.R., Dao, C.T., Soloski, M.J., and Jensen, P.E. (1998). Transporters associated with antigen processing (TAP)-independent presentation of soluble insulin to alpha/beta T cells by the class Ib gene product, Qa-1(b). J Exp Med *188*, 961–971. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.188.5.961.

Tuttle, K.D., Krovi, S.H., Zhang, J., Bedel, R., Harmacek, L., Peterson, L.K., Dragone, L.L., Lefferts, A., Halluszczak, C., Riemondy, K., et al. (2018). TCR signal strength controls thymic differentiation of iNKT cell subsets. Nature Communications *9*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05026-6.

Vance, R.E., Kraft, J.R., Altman, J.D., Jensen, P.E., and Raulet, D.H. (1998). Mouse CD94 / NKG2A Is a Natural Killer Cell Receptor for the Nonclassical Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Class I Molecule Qa-1b. Journal of Experimental Medicine *188*, 1841–1848.

Walters, L.C., Harlos, K., Brackenridge, S., Rozbesky, D., Barrett, J.R., Jain, V., Walter, T.S., O'Callaghan, C.A., Borrow, P., Toebes, M., et al. (2018). Pathogen-derived HLA-E bound epitopes reveal broad primary anchor pocket tolerability and conformationally malleable peptide binding. Nature Communications *9*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05459-z. White, J.T., Cross, E.W., and Kedl, R.M. (2017). Antigen-inexperienced memory CD8+ T cells: Where they come from and why we need them. Nature Reviews Immunology *17*, 391–400. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.34.

Yamagata, T., Mathis, D., and Benoist, C. (2004). Self-reactivity in thymic double-positive cells commits cells to a CD8αα lineage with characteristics of innate immune cells. Nature Immunology *5*, 597–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1070.

Yang, H., Rei, M., Brackenridge, S., Brenna, E., Sun, H., Abdulhaqq, S., Liu, M.K.P.P., Ma, W., Kurupati, P., Xu, X., et al. (2021). HLA-E – restricted, Gag-specific CD8 + T cells can suppress HIV-1 infection, offering vaccine opportunities. Science Immunology *6*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIIMMUNOL.ABG1703.

Zeng, L., Sullivan, L.C., Vivian, J.P., Walpole, N.G., Harpur, C.M., Rossjohn, J., Clements, C.S., and Brooks, A.G. (2012). A Structural Basis for Antigen Presentation by the MHC Class Ib Molecule, Qa-1. The Journal of Immunology *188*, 302–310. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1102379.